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Introduction

We report on the historical financial information of Pony AI Inc. (the "Company") and

its subsidiaries (together, the "Group") set out on pages I-4 to I-90, which comprises the

consolidated balance sheets of the Group as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and June

30,2025, the balance sheets of the Company as at December 31, 2022,2023 and 2024 and

June 30, 2025 and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, the

consolidated statements of changes in shareholders' (deficit) equity and the consolidated

statements of cash flows of the Group for each of the three years ended December 31,2024

and the six months ended June 30, 2025 (the "Track Record Period") and notes to the

consolidated financial statements, including a sufirmary of significant accounting policies

(together, the "Historical Financial Information"). The Historical Financial lnformation set out

on pages I-4 to I-90 forms an integral part of this report, which has been prepared for inclusion

in the prospectus of the Company dated October 28,2025 (the "Prospectus") in connection

with the initial listing of class A ordinary shares of the Company on the Main Board of The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").

Directors' responsibility for the Historical Financial Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the Historical

Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation

set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical Financial Information, and for such internal control as the

directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the Historical

Financial Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Reporting accountants' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and to

report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with Hong Kong Standard

on Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200 "Accountants' Reports on Historical

Financial Information in Investment Circulars" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). This standard requires that we comply with ethical

standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.

Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and

disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the

reporting accountants' judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement

of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk

_ _ - asse$jsnlpr{g, the reporting accountants consider internal control relevant to the entity'sWorldCloss -r-r-
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preparation of Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance

with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical Financial Information in

order to design procedures that arc appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Our work also

included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the

accountants' report, a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at December 31,

2022,2023 and2024 and June 30,2025, of the Company's financial position as at December

31,2022,2023 and2024 andJune 30, 2025 andof the Group's financial performance and cash

flows for the Track Record Period in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note

2(a) to the Historical Financial Information.

Review of stub period comparative financial information

We have reviewed the stub period comparative financial information of the Group which

comprises the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, the consolidated

statement of changes in shareholders' deficit and the consolidated statement of cash flows for

the six months ended June 30, 2024 and other explanatory information (the "Stub Period

Comparative Financial Information"). The directors of the Company are responsible for the

preparation of the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information in accordance with the basis

of preparation set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical Financial Information. Our responsibility

is to express a conclusion on the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information based on our

review. We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review

Engagements 2410 "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent

Auditor of the Entity" issued by the HKICPA. A review consists of making inquiries, primarily

of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other

review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in

accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to

obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant maffers that might be identified

in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. Based on our review, nothing

has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Stub Period Comparative Financial

Information, for the purposes of the accountants' report, is not prepared, in all material respects,

in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical Financial

Information.

Report on matters under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange and the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
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Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Historical

Financial Statements as defined on page I-4 have been made.

Dividends

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company in respect of the Track Record Period.

2"1,'& 7*L V^,/'-
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certifi ed Public Accountants
Hong Kong
October 28,2025
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part of this

accountants' report.

The Historical Financial Information in this report was prepared based on previously issued

consolidated financial statements of the Group for each of the three years ended December 31,

2024 andmanagement accounts of the Group for the six months ended June 30, 2025 ("Historical

Financial Statements"). The Historical Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance

with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP").

The previously issued consolidated financial statements for each of the three years ended

December 31,2024 were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP

in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States) ("PCAOB").

The Historical Financial Information is presented in U.S. dollars ("US$") and all values are

rounded to the nearest thousand ("US$'000") except when otherwise indicated.
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

The following is the text of a report set out on pages I-I to I-90, received from the

Company's reporting occountants, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants,

Hong Kong, for the purpose of incorporation in this Prospectus.

Deloitt€. 1*E,Eh

ACCOUNTANTS'REPORT ON HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION TO THE

DIRECTORS OF PONY AI INC., GOLDMAN SACHS (ASIA) L.L.C., MERRTLL

LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED, DEUTSCHE SECURITIES ASIA LIMITED AND

HUATAI FINANCIAL HOLDINGS (HONG KONG) LIMITED

fntroduction

We report on the historical financial information of Pony AI Inc. (the "Company") and its

subsidiaries (together, the "Group") set out on pages I-4 to I-90, which comprises the

consolidated balance sheets of the Group as at December 31, 2022,2023 and2O24 and June

30,2025, the balance sheets ofthe Company as at December 31,2022,2023 and2O24 andJune

30, 2025 and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, the

consolidated statements of changes in shareholders' (deficit) equity and the consolidated

statements of cash flows of the Group for each of the three years ended December 31,2024 and

the six months ended June 30,2025 (the "Track Record Period") and notes to the consolidated

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (together, the

"Historical Financial Information"). The Historical Financial Information set out on pages I-4

to I-90 forms an integral part of this report, which has been prepared for inclusion in the

prospectus of the Company dated October 28,2025 (the "Prospectus") in connection with the

initial listing of class A ordinary shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").

Directors' responsibility for the Historical Financial Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the Historical

Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation

set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical Financial Information, and for such internal control as the

directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the Historical

Financial Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Reporting accountants' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and to

report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on

Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200 "Accountants' Reports on Historical

Financial Information in Investment Circulars" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). This standard requires that we comply with ethical

standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the
reporting accountants' judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the reporting accountants consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical Financial Information in
order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Our work also
included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the
accountantsnreport, a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024 and June 30, 2025, of the Company's financial position as at December
31,2022,2023 and2024 and June 30, 2025 and ofthe Group's financial performance and cash
flows for the Track Record Period in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note
2(a) to the Historical Financial Information.

Review of stub period comparative financial information

We have reviewed the stub period comparative financial information of the Group which
comprises the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, the consolidated
statement of changes in shareholders' deficit and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the six months ended June 30, 2024 and other explanatory information (the "Stub Period
Comparative Financial Information"). The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information in accordance with the basis
of preparation set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical Financial Information. Our responsibility
is to express a conclusion on the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information based on our
review. We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review
Engagements 2470 "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent
Auditor of the Entity" issued by the HKICPA. A review consists of making inquiries, primarily
of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other
review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to
obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified
in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. Based on our review, nothing has
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Stub Period Comparative Financial

Information, for the purposes of the accountants' report, is not prepared, in all material

respects, in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2(a) to the Historical

Financial Information.

Report on matters under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange and the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Historical

Financial Statements as defined on page I-4 have been made'

Dividends

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company in respect of the Track Record Period.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountents

Hong Kong

October 28,2025
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part of this
accountants' report.

The Historical Financial Information in this report was prepared based on previously
issued consolidated financial statements of the Group for each of the three years ended
December 3I,2024 and management accounts of the Group for the six months ended June 30,
2025 ("Historical Financial Statements"). The Historical Financial Statements have been
prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The previously issued consolidated financial statements for each
of the three years ended December 31, 2024 were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants LLP in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB").

The Historical Financial Information is presented in U.S. dollars ("US$") and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand ("US$'000") except when otherwise indicated.
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

PONY AI INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(All amounts in USD thousands, except share, per share and per ADS data)

Note 2022 2023 2024

As of
June 30,

2025

As of December 3L,

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents . . .

Restricted cash, cunent . . . . .

Short-term investments

(including short-term

investments measured at fair
value of $261,643,

$163,594, $209,035 and

$289,493 as of December

31,2022,2023 and 2024,

and June 30,2025,
respectively)

Accounts receivable, net. . . . .

Amounts due from related

parties, current

Prepaid expenses and other

current assets.

Total current assets

Non-current assets:

Restricted cash, non-current . .

Amounts due from related

parties, non-current.

Property, equipment and

software,net...
Operating lease right-of-use

assets .

Long-term investments

(including long-term

investments measured at fair
value of $80,173, $51,240,

$93,449 and $122,731 as of
December 31,2022,2023
and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively). . . . . .

Prepayment for long-term

investments

Other non-current assets. . . .

Total non-current assets. . . . .

Total assets

8,306 5,650 8,322 7,443

29,654 39,513 52,713 59,228

643,570 666,346 834,622 701,801

196 175 188

15,420 17,241 29,443

16,3386,419 13,342

5,6 80,653 5r,712 130,799 214,142

6
20

t5

316,262
I,806

261,643
25,899

450

2,969

26,827

8,138

425,960
49

163,594

31,580

535,976
2t

209,035
28,555

318,533

20

289,493

27,084

I5

7

9

25,000
4,134

289,245

eery46

52,823

1,819

216,199

!0sqgl

7,024

80,771

147Jr7

8,907

127,944

77t,514

2I
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

Liabilities, Mezzanine Equity
and Shareholders (Deficit)
Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other

current liabilities (including

amounts of the consolidated

VIEs without recourse to the

Company of $8,104, $7,146,
nil and nil as of December

31,2022,2023 and 2024,

and June 30,2025,
respectively)

Operating Iease liabilities,
current (including amounts

of the consolidated VIEs
without recourse to the

Company of $899, $768, nil,
and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively).
Amounts due to related

parties, current

Total current liabilities

Operating lease liabilities,
non-current (including

amounts of the consolidated
VIEs without recourse to the

Company of $795, $14, nil
and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively).
Other non-current liabilities

(including amounts of the

consolidated VIEs without
recourse to the Company of
nil, $57, nil and nil as of
December 31,2022,2023
and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively) .

Totalliabilities...

As of December 31, As of
June 30,

202s2022 2024

44,042 44,299 66,548 107,804

4,058 3,866 3,438 4,825

744

48,100 49,165 70,996 113,373

3,788 2,246 9,935 ll,g2g

Note 2023

t(b), 8

I(b), 9

1(b), e

1(b)

900

1,714 1,533 1,399 1,480

53,602 51,944 g2,tt0 126,7gl

Commitments and contingencies (See note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

.r-6 -



APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

As of December 31,

2023 2024

As of
June 30'

2025

Mezzanine equity:

Series A convertible

redeemable Preferred Shares

($0.0005 par value,

34,717,760 shares,

34,717,760 shares, nil and

nil authorized as of
December 31,2022,2023

and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively; and

34,717,760 shares,

34,362,468 shares, nil and

nil issued and outstanding

with redemption value of

$19,949, $20,733, nil and

nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively)

Series B convertible

redeemable Preferred Shares

($0.0005 par value,

44,758,365 shares,

44,758,365 shares, nil and

nil authorized, issued and

outstanding with redemption

value of $108,592,

$114,793, nil and nil as of

December 31,2022,2023

and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively). . . . . .

Note 2022

12

t2

14,818 14,664

76,840 76,840
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

2022 2023 2024

As of
June 30,

2025

As of December 31,

Series B+ convertible

redeemable Preferred Shares

($0.0005 par value,

27,428,047 shares,

27,428,047 shares, nil and

nil authorized, issued and

outstanding with redemption

value of $135,504,

$143,551, nil and nil as of
December 31,2022,2023

and2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively) .

Series 82 convertible

redeemable Preferred Shares

($0.0005 par value,

10,478,885 shares,

10,478,885 shares, nil and

nil authorized, issued and

outstanding with redemption

value of $88,683, $94,148,

nil and nil as of
December 31,2022,2023

and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively) .

Series C convertible

redeemable Preferred Shares

($0.0005 par value,

57,896,414 shares,

57,896,414 shares, nil and

nil authorized, issued and

outstanding with redemption

value of $665,769,

$709,409, nil and nil as of
December 31,2022,2023

and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively) .

107,135 107,135

68,138 6g,13g

559,087 559,087

Note

12

12

I2
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As of December 31,

2024

As of
June 30,

202s

Series C+ convertible

redeemable Preferred Shares

($0.0005 par value,

16,161,668 shares,

16,161,668 shares, nil and

nil authorized as of

December 31,2022,2023

and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively; and

16,161,021 shares,

16,161,021 shares, nil and

nil issued and outstanding

with redemption value of

$291,183, $311,182, nil and

nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively).

Series D convertible

redeemable Preferred Shares

($0.0005 par value,

19,964,384 shares,

19,964,384 shares, nil and

nil authorized as of
December 31,2022,2023

and 2024, and June 30,

2025, respectively; and

7,453,37 I shares, 11,614,287

shares, nil and nil issued

and outstanding with

redemption value of

$198,694, $318,980, nil and

nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively).

Total mezzanine equity

2022 2023

249,884 249,884

181,595 285,530

1,257,497 1,361,278

Note

12

12
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

Pony AI Inc. shareholders'
(deficit) equity:
Class A ordinary shares

($0.0005 par value,
307,505,707 shares,

307,505,707 shares,

498,911,230 shares and
498,911,230 shares

authorized as of
December 31,2022,2023
and 2024, and June 30,
2025, respectively;
10,708,762 shares,

10,660,389 shares,

269,203,783 shares and
304,203,7 83 shares issued
and outstanding as of
December 31,2022,2023
and 2024, and June 30,
2025, respectively) . . . . . .

Class B ordinary shares
($0.0005 par value,
81,088,770 shares,

81,088,770 shares,

81,088,770 shares and
81,088,770 shares

authorized, issued and
outstanding as of
December 31,2022,2023
and 2024, and June 30,
2025, respectively) . . . . . .

Additional paid-in capital . . . .

Special reserve

Accumulated deficit .

Accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) income.

Total Pony AI Inc.
shareholders' (deficit) equity

Non-controlling interests . . . . .

Total shareholders' (deficit)
equity .

Total liabilities, mezzanine
equity and shareholders'
(deficit) equity .

Note

I1

II

2022 2023

9

35

63,200

9t
(614,659)

10

35

57,759

148

(739,528)

2024

140

35

2,228,444

220

( I,287,851)

As of December 31, As of
June 30,

2025

158

35

2,234,712

292

(1,384,009)

(163) 4,326 10,t34 2,17s

(551,487) (677,250) 951,122 853,363

11,902 rt,t45 t7,5gg 70,902

(539,585) (666,105) 968,711 864,265

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

lllE]! 147_,fi7 l4lq:4 eet2046
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PONY AI INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(All amounts in USD thousands, except share, per share and per ADS data)

Year ended December 31,

Six months ended

June 30'

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

(unaudited)

Revenues

Service revenues (including rsvenues

from related parties of $25,393,

$23,103, $30,826, $12,330 and

$11,148 for the years ended

December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024

and the six months ended June 30,

2024 and 2025, respectively) . . .

Product revenues . .

Total Revenues

Costofrevenues....

Gross profit

0perating expenses:

Research and development expenses. ,

Selling, general and administrative

expense$

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Investment income .

Changes in fair value of warrants

liability .

0ther income (expenses), net. . . . .

Loss before income tax.

Income tax benefits (expenses). . . .

Net loss

Net (loss) income attributable to non-

controlling interests

Net loss attributable to Pony AI Inc.

Foreign cunency translation

adjustments

24,720

(22,134)

2,586

(58,725)

(49,178) (37,4t1) (56,747) (15,579) (26,514)

(202,779) (160,124) (296,926) (74,304) (123,090)

(170,715) (143,240\ (285,523) (7r,718) (117,311)

8,890 19,389 20,3',18 11,350 28,681

24,166

554

3,887

9,614

(3,030)

1,427

5,617

(15,477)

5,617

2,9'.18

21,685

l3,T 49

3,n!

_a9,6s2

5,779

(96,5 1 6)

66,380 64,546 67,415

2,006 1,353 7,610

_jEq J],lee_ Jj,02s_

!firy l5s4ll) (ffi,622)

32,064 16,884 11,403

(153,601) (122,707) (240,179)

(2,015)

(t48,324) (125,454) (275,005) (51,773\ (90,639)

t4 14 126 (r) (2) (l)

(148,018) (t24,812) (274,121)

(148,250) (125,328) (275,006) (51,775) (90,640)

(232) (516) (885) (458) s,446

(51,317) (96,086)

(t6,239) (3,841) (2,952) (1,046) ll4
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Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-

sale investments, net of tax of $86,

$243, $(282), $408 and $(25), for the

years ended December 31,2022,2023

and2024, and the six months ended

Iune 30, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Total other comprehensive (loss)

income .

Total comprehensive loss.

Less: Comprehensive income (loss)

attributable to non-controlling

interest .

Total comprehensive loss attributable

to Pony AI Inc. .

Net loss attributable to Pony AI Inc.

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares outstanding used in computing

net loss per share, basic and diluted.

Net loss per share and per ADS, basic

and diluted

Share.based compensation expenses

included in:

Research and development expenses. .

Selling, general and administrative

expenses

Year ended December 31,
Six months ended

June 30,

Note 2022 2[2s 2024 2024 2025

(unaudited)

3,1'12 8,089 16,089 5,236 (13,771)

(13,067) 4,249 13,137 4,190 (13,657)

(161,317) (121,080) (261,869) (47,585) (104,297)

(161,794) (120,323) (268,313) (47,056) (104,045)

17 85,319,170 99,100,415 fi4,318,765 91,557,009 359,375,886

(1.73) (1.40) (2.40) (1.14) (0.21)

I3 13,405 1,832 102,393 605 fi,974

13

6,444 (2s2)(sze)(7s7)471

_qqq9 _gw _gp __qry)___q!ry)

5,178 1,926 24,620 855 4,343

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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PONY AI INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CIIANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY

(All amounts in USD thousands, except share, per share and per ADS data)

:g
Fd

t.iz
-X
tiNote Ordinary Shares

Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Special
Reserve

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

PONYAI INC.
Shareholders'

(Deficit) Equity

Non-
Controlling

Interests Total

Balances as of January 1,2022 ,

Deemed dividend upon wanant granted t0 a

shareholder.

Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise 0f

share options.

Share-based compensation

Capital injection by non-controlling interests

Other comprehensive income (loss), . . . . .

Provision of special rcserve (note b) . . . , .

Net loss

Balances as of December 31,2022

Issuance of ordinary shares upon vesting 0f

restricted stock units ("RSUs")

Deemed distribution from repurchase of Series

A convertible redeemable Preferred Shares

(as defined in note 12)

Repurchase of ordinary shares (nofe a) . . . .

Settlement of RSUs and share options . . . .

Share-based compensation

Othercomprehensive income (loss) . . ., . .

Provision of special rcseve (note b) . . . . .

Net loss

Balances as of Dscamber 31,2023

91,723,99I 42

73,541

91,797,532

I3 37,500

(85,873)

I2

50,796

(828)

50

13,182

91

63,200 91

(4,646)

(ee4)

(3,054)

3,253

13,613 (466,550)

(t3,776)

(e1)

(148,018)

3,888 (398,211)

(828)

50

13,184

1,537

(13,067)

q48ls0)

(539,585)

(4,646)

(ee4)

(3,054)

3,254

4,248

(402,099)

(828)

50

13,184

(13,776)

(148,018)

2

44

I

I

UJ
I

t3
t3

t3
I3

7,537

709

_@2)
11,902

I2

(163) (614,659) (ss1,487)

(4,646)

(994\

(3,054)

3,254

4,499

oo
o
z
Fl

z
Fiq
7
lrl
Fg

o
'^l
H

I

45

4,489

4,326

57

148

(57)

(124,812) (124,812) (125,328)

(241)

(s l6)

9L,749,r59 57,759 (739,528) (677,250) 11,145 (666,105)



Note Ordinary Shares

Shares Amount

Additional
Paid.In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

s,808

Accumulated
Deficit

PONYAI INC,
Shareholders'

(Deficit) Equity

Non.
Controlling

Interests Total

(6,435)

(e0,640)

E
tajz
-X
-

Special
Reserve

Issuance of Class A ordinary shares upon the

completion of the initial public offering

("1P0"), net of issuance cost . .

Issuance of Class A ordinary shares in the

concuffent private placements ("CPP"), net

of issuance cost . . .

Conversion of Prefened Shares to Class A
ordinary shares upon the completion of

the IPO .

Accretion of convertible redeemable

Prefened Shares. .

Modification of convertible redeemable

Prefened Shares. .

Share-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Provision of special rcsewe (note b) . . . . .

Net loss

Balances as of Decomber 31,2024

Share-based compensation

Other comprehensive loss.

Repurchase ofRSUs.

Issuance of ordinary shares upon vesting

of RSUs

Provision of special reserve (note b) . . . . .

Dividends distribution to a non-controlling

shareholder (note c).

Net (loss) profit . ,

il 2t,461,410 10 256,656

11 I,672,186 6 t5t,732

]t 225,409,799 113 1,695,191

- (59,896)t2 (12,658)

(26t,472) (26t,472)

127,003

s,808

_aryw
Lfl,W

16,217

(7,9s9)

(11,609)

256,666

151,738

1,695,304

(72,554)

2s6,666

151,738

t,695,304

(72,554)

7,329

(885)

(261,472)

127,003

13,137

(275,006)

17,589 968,7fi

- 16,217

(5,698) (13,657)

- (11,609)

1,678

I

I

s
I

t2
l3 I 127,002

2,229,444

(72)

(274,121)

350,292,553

72

175

18

72

220: 10,134 (1,287,851)

(7,9s9)

oo

z
F;

z
F;q
F
F'

F
H

(72)

16,217

(1 I,609)

1,660

t3

I3 35,000,000 1,679

(6,435)

5,446(96,086) (96,086)



Note Ordinary Shares

Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Special
Reserve

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
lncome (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

PONY AI INC,
Shareholders'

(Deficit) Equity

Non-
Controlling

Interests

Fg
Fg

Liz
-X
-

Total

Balances as of June 30,2025

Balances as of January 1,2024 . . . . .

Share-based compensation

Other comprehensive incoms (loss) . . .

Provision of special rcserve (note b) . .

Accretion of convertible redeemable

preferred shares . .

Net loss

Balances as 0f June 30,2024 (unaudited)

t3

upon repurchase.

revenues.

Notec: DuringthesixmonthsendedJune30,2025,YanchengPoplarLLBanon-wholly-ownedsubsidiaryoftheGroup,distributedprofitsresultingfrominvestmentgainsarising
from the disposal of equity investments to a non-controlling shareholder.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

q!q{g? _8l!63 l!fg? 864p6s_

(739,528) (677,250) [,145 (666,105)

- 1,460 - 1,460

- 4,261, (7t) 4,190

(3e)

{12e2ds3

91,749,159

- (53,380) - (53,380)

(51,317) l!l!]? _1158) llllis)
_qq!!9 w {4q qq4q)ttl.,*

2J1j

4,326

4,261

!ry

292:
148

39

187:

2,?i4U

57,759

1,459

(53,380)

__ifl!

193:
45

I

46:
I

I

(,l

I

o
o
o
z
Fl

z
H
3
F
Ll
Fg

o
F
Fl



APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

PONY AI INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(All amounts in USD thousands, except share, per share and per ADS data)

Year ended December 31.,

Six months ended

June 30,

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

(unaudited)

(148,250) (125,328) (275,006) (51,775) (90,640)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net

cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization . . . .

Share-based compensation

(Gain$ losses from disposal of
property and equipment

Realized losses (gains) from

investments

Deferred income tax.

Changes in fair value of wanants

liability .

Changes in fair value of equity

investment

Unrealized foreign exchange (gains)

losses. .

Non-cash lease expense

Changes in operating assets and

liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Amounts due from related parties . .

Prepaid expenses and other current

assets . .

0ther non-current asssts

Accounts payable and other cunent

liabilities

Righrof-use assels. .

0perating lease liabilities, current and

non-cufient.

0ther non-curent liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

13

7

6

16,7',l0

13, I 84

14,342

3,254

4,676

1,460

2,671

16,2lT

107

(476)

(3,887)

(26,529)

(6,2t3)

(9,878)

(s,883)

19,007

(9,870)

5,718

(167)

1,t24

(2,993)

(r20)

3,030

4,127

(16,367)

5,625

(5,027)

8,361

I2T,003

(36)

(s,697)

(5,6 r 7)

21,285

550

6,238

2,016

(2,672)

(9,857)

3,139

23,220

(n,377)

(5,617)

(1,956)

186

2,831

6,897

(4,892)

(6,787)

1,843

515

6,234

(2,731)

3,366

22(3e) 2

(4,8ss) (18,388)

9

(2,782)

4,420

681

5,515

l5
1,569

879

(2,270)

(1,232)

(1,t49)

(3,424)

302

345

42

6,526

(5,511)

3,470

269

7,206

(l14)

(1,732)

56

(154,768) (I5,42t) (110,758) (59,122) (79,570)

- I-16 -



APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

Year ended December 31,
Six months ended

June 30,

Note

tI

12

(12,033)

( l e3,825)

(19,41 1)

69,599

(5,091)

(66,088)

( 1 5,000)

49,590

(11,397)

613,596)

(t4,464)

(208,868)

153,681

(109,017)

19,162

(13,512)

12,602

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases 0f property, equipment and

software.

Purchases of shorlterm investments . .

Proceeds from the sales and maturities

of short-term investments

Prepayment for long-term investments.

Purchases of long-term investments . .

Proceeds from the sales and matudties

of long{erm investments

Loans to third parties

Proceeds from repayment of loans to

third parties.

Proceeds from disposal of property and

equipment.

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Cash flows frorn financing activities:

Net proceeds fiom issuance of Series D

convertible redeemable Preferred

Shares. .

Proceeds from issuance of Class A
ordinary shares upon the completion

of IPO and CPP, net of issuance costs

of $9,442

Payments for finance lease liabilities

Proceeds from loans in connection to
waffailtissuance....,

Payments for loans in connection to
wanantissuance....

Repurchase/settlement of RSUs. . . . .

Proceeds from exercise of share options

Dividends distribution to a

non-controlling sharsholder. . . . . .

Payment for the repurchase of ordinary
shares . .

Paynent for the repurchase of Series A
convertible redeemable Prefened
Shares. .

Capital contribution by non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiary

Proceeds from shares sold on behalf of
employees.

Net cash provirled by financing
activities

21,696 1,383

49,329

186,342 104,006

(853)

3,946

- 408,404

(1,061) (1,015) (710) (764)

(5,399)

(3,829)

(3,558) (1 l,609)

1,678

(6,435)

(ee4)

(4,800)

'1,537

40,730

19r,573 89,764 407,389 (710) 23,600

204,479 1'.12,214

(unaudited)

(l,906)

(21s,971)

246,716

(25,000)

(33,9 I 6)

488,643

(s2,823)

(113,842)

2552869520

136,494 (181,267) (28,669) (160,416)

- r-17 -



APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

Year ended December 31,
Six months ended

June 30,

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

(undudited)

Effect of exchange rate changes 0n cash

and cash equivalents.

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted

cash at beginning of year/period. .

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted

cash at end of year/period . . . . .

Cash andcashequivalents. . . . . . . .,
Restrictedcash...

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash at end of year/period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information

- Cash paid for income tax. . . . . . .

Non-cash investing and financing

activities

- Payable for purchase of property

and equipment, and not paid yet . .

- Deemed dividend upon warrant

granted to a shareholder

- Issuance of ordinary shares for
share options exercised through

other payables

- Accounts receivable settled in

shares. .

(10,607) (3,150) (5,397)

't5,52T 107,687 t0g,g67

(2,704)

(91,205)

(1,045)

(217,431)

242,991 318,518 426,205 426,205 536,t72

318,518 426,205 536,172 335,000 3tg,74l

316,262

2,256

425,960 535,976

t96

334,756

244

3 18,533

208245

318,518 426,205 536,172 335,000 319,741

9 434

2t2 148 297 2,613

10,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

I2

ll0

828

50
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APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

PONY AI INC.
COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS

(All amounts in USD thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

Note 2022 2023 2024

As of
June 30,

2025

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments. . . .

Receivables from subsidiaries

Prepaid expenses and other

cunent assets .

Total current assets. . . . . . .

Non-current assets:

Amounts due from related parties,

non-current

Long-term investments

Prepayment for long-term

investments

Other non-cunent assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities, Mezzanine Equity

and Shareholders' (Deficit)

Equity

Current liabilities:

Amounts due to subsidiaries .

Accounts payable and other

current liabilities

Total current liabilities . . . . .

Non-current liabilities:

Accumulated deficit in its

subsidiaries, the VIBs and the

VIEs' subsidiaries. . . . . . . .

Total non-current Iiabilities . .

Totalliabilities....

1,523 1,840 8,877

960,358 l,ll7,lll 1,550,282 1,504,807

2,969

50,471 1,933 58,373 116,637

6

5

124,160

210,124

624,55t

288,716

61,r56

766300

446,873

73,925

r,027,644

130,t93

200,814

1,164,923t6

I5

939

25,000

926

142,563

r,6!_37!

rri"
1,633,655

ffi
l]Ire!44

53,440

!9t1zq

21 25,000

16 1,778 l,1n 12,984 7,304

8 5,t47 8,437 5,628 8,936

6,925 10,148 18,612 16,240

1(a) 300,863 424,868 663,921 771,767

300,863 424,868 663,921 777,767

307,788 435,016 682,533 794,007

- r-19 -
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As of December 3L,

2024

As of
June 30,

2025

Series A convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares ($0.0005 par

valae, 34,717 ,760 shares,

34,717,760 shares, nil and nil

authorized as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively; and

34,7 l7 ,7 60 shares, 34,362,468

shares, nil and nil issued and

outstanding with redemption

value of $19,949, $20,733, nil

and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and,2024, and June

30, 2025, respectively)

Series B convertible redeemable

Prefened Shares ($0.0005 par

value, 44,758,365 shares,

44,758,365 shares, nil and nil

authorized, issued an

outstanding with redemption

value of $108,592, $114,793, nil

and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively) . .

Series B+ convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares ($0.0005 par

v alue, 27,428,047 shares,

27,428,047 shares, nil and nil

authorized, issued and

outstanding with redemption

value of $135,504, $143,551, nil

and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and

June 30, 2025, respectively) . . .

2022 2023

14,818 14,664

76,840 ',76,840

107 ,135 107, 135

Note

I2

12

t2

-r-20 -
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As of December 31,

2024

As of
June 30,

202s

Series B2 convertible redeemable

Prefened Shares ($0.0005 par

value, 10,478,885 shares,

10,478,885 shares, nil and nil
authorized, issued and

outstanding with redemption
value of $88,683, $94,148, nil
and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and
June 30,2025, respectively) . . .

Series C convertible redeemable

Prefened Shares ($0.0005 par

value, 57,896,414 shares,

57,896,414 shares, nil and nil
authorized, issued and

outstanding with redemption
value of $665,769, $709,409, nil
and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and
June 30, 2025, respectively) . . .

Series C+ convertible redeemable

Prefened Shares ($0.0005 par

value, 16,161,668 shares,

16,161,668 shares, nil and nil
authorized as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and
June 30, 2025, respectively; and

16,161,021 shares, 16,161,021

shares, nil and nil issued and

outstanding with redemption
value of $291,183, $311,182, nil
and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024,and
June 30, 2025, respectively) . . .

Series D convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares ($0.0005 par

v alue, 19,964,384 shares,

19,964,384 shares, nil and nil
authorized as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and
June 30, 2025, respectively; and

7 ,453,371 shares, I I,614,287
shares, nil and nil issued and

outstanding with redemption
value of $198,694, $318,980, nil
and nil as of December 31,

2022,2023 and2024, and
June 30, 2025, respectively) . .

Total mezzanine equity

2022 2023

68,138 68,138

559,087 559,087

249,884 249,884

181,595 285,530

1,257,497 1,361,278

Note

I2

t2

12

I2

- r-21 -
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Pony AI Inc. shareholders'

(ileficit) equity:

Class A ordinary shares (90.0005

par value, 307,505,707 shares,

307,505,7 07 shares, 498,91 1,230

shares and 498,911,230 shares

authorized as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and June

30, 2025, respectively;

10,7 08,7 62 shares, 10,660,389

shares, 269,203,783 shares and

304,203,783 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and June

30, 2025, respectively)

Class B ordinary shares (90.0005

par value, 81,088,770 shares,

81,088,770 shares, 81,088,770

shares and 81,088,770 shares

authorized, issued and

outstanding as of December 31,

2022,2023 and 2024, and June

30, 2025, respectively)

Additional paid-in capital . . . . . .

Special reserve

Accumulated deficit .

Accumulated other comprehensive

(loss) income

Total Pony AI Inc. shareholders'

(deficit) equity.

Total liabilities, mezzanine equity

and shareholders' (deficit)

equity.

(614,6s9) (739,s28) (1,287,851) (1,384,009)

(163) 4,326 t0,t34 2,175

(551,487) (677,250) 951,t22 953,363

Note

il

II
11/12/t3

2022

9

35

63,200

91

2023

As of December 31, As of
June 30,

2025

158

35

2,234,712

292

r0

2024

140

35

2,228,444

220

35

57,759

148

11647 13701,6316ssrJle!44l,0l3,7gg

-r-22 -
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PONY AI INC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(ALL AMOUNTS IN USD THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE PER SHARE AND PER

ADS DATA OR OTHERWISE NOTED)

1. OPERATIONSANDPRINCIPALACTIVITIES

(a) Description of Business

Pony AI Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on November 4,2016'
The Company, its subsidiaries, and the consolidated variable interest entities (the "VIEs" as defined in note 1(b)) and

the VIEs' subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group") is an artificial intelligence technology company that principally

engaged in the operation and development of autonomous vehicles. The Group conducts its operation mainly in the

People's Republic of China ("PRC") and the United States of America ("U.S.") through subsidiaries and the

consolidated VIEs and the VIEs' subsidiaries.

In November 2024, the Company completed its listing on the National Association of Securities Dealers

Automated Quotations ("Nasdaq"). Refer to note ll Ordinary Shares.

During the Track Record Period and as at the date of this report, the Company has direct and indirect

shareholding/equity interests in the following subsidiaries:

rlldbubble lo lle Codprrt as rtPlace lle
ilrle ot

incorporoliod

erlrblkhent

Plsce ol

Esabillhnen(
Incoryonlion

ksued rnal luly Decenher 31, December 31, Dec€nber 31,

palil lhrrc crpilrl/regillenil capllrl 2022 2M! 20U
June 30,

20x
fte dst€ of

fth nporl PrlncipslicliYiliet iloktNme olsrbsldhry dale,

Pony,ai, Inc.

Hotrgkong PoDy Al Linited.

Beijing (ZX) Pony Al

Tecfirology Co,, Ltd.

("Beijing ZX") .

Beijing (HX) Pory AI

Teclrnology Co., Ltd.

("Ber1ingHX").

Novembor 15,

20r6

Decembei 13,

20t6

December 19,

2016

April 1,2017 Beijing, PRC

Delavue, U,S, As at Decenber 31, 2022 ud 2023:

$1,0 million

As at Decenber 31, 2024 0d June

30, 2025 ard dale of lhis repofl:

$41.0 million

Hong Kong,

PRC

Beijing, PRC

USD nil

As ar Drcember 31, 2022 od 2023;

nil (issued and fully paid

capital/RMBl00.0 million

As at December 31, 2024:

RMB20,0 millior (issued and

fully paid mpiul/

RMBl00.0 million

As at June 30, 2025i RMB85.0

million (issued and fully paid

capiml/

RMB10{,0 millioo

As at fie date of dis reporti

RM8100.0 millioo

As at Decenber 31, 2022r $98.0

nillior (issued and fully paid

capiral)/

$120.0 nillioo

As at December 31, 2023: $108,0

million (issued and fully paid

capitall

S120.0 millio!

As at December 31, 2024r $120.0

nillion

As at June 30, 2025 and date of

this repon: $128,0 nillion (issued

and fully paid capitalY

$140.0 million

r00% nqqfi 100% 10090

100% r00% 100% 100%

100& 1009t 100% 10090

t00% 10096 100% 100%

100% Rsedch,

develolmrnt and

operalioa of

atrto0omoN

driving paserger

mobility service

100% llolding platfom

c0mpaly

100% Reseilch,

development ald

operation of

auOnomous

drivilg pasengei

mobility seryic€

100% Reseuch,

developmeot and

operation of

aut0n0m0us

fieight and

shareholding

plaform

(o)

(b)

H,(h)

@.(h)

-r-23 -
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Nmeof shidirry{fat,

Phc€ lhe

drle of

incorporrtlotr/

slrblirh.nt

Phce of
EilablhtnenL/

Incorporrilo!
krued r[d fo11y

prid 3hrn crDihyregbloreil crlibl

Shrholdint/equity inbffi t
.llibubble lo lhe Conprnr $ rl

D.cenbor 31, Dccenber 31, Dftember 31,

2022 2n'3 20?J

June 30,

2025

Th dile ol
hlr rcport

Guangzhor (HX) Pony AI

Tehnology

Co., Ltd,

("Guugzhou HX") .

Cuargzhou Bibi Techmlogy

Co., Ltd.

Guangzlou (ZX) Pony Al 0ctober 25,

Trclrnology 2011

Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou ZX").

As at Dffember 31,2022 0d 2023:

ril (issuod and fully paid capihl)/

RMBl00.0 millioa

As at Dec€nber 31, 2024 ud Jurc

30, 2025 and date of $is reportl

RMBl00,0 millior

As at D€cenber 31, 2022: $162.0

million

As at December 31, 2023: $162,0

million (issued and fully paid

capilal)i

$213.0 million

As at Decenber 31, 2024: $248.0

nillion

As at June 30, 2025; $299,0 million

(issu3d and fully paid capitaly

$348.0 millior

As at the date of this rcpor $309,0

million (issued and ftlly paid

capital/

$148.0 million

As at December 31,2022,2023,

2024, and June 30, 2025, and

date of thh rcpon: nil (issued and

fully paid capihll

RMEl0.0 nillion

As at December 31, 2022: $174.0

nillion (issued and fully paid

capitalY

$300.0 million

As at Decemb€r 31, 2023: $213,0

million (issued and fully paid

capital)/

$300,0 million

As at Decembff 31, 2024: $243,0

million (issued and fully paid

crpimlY

$300,0 nillior

As at June 30, 2025: $276.0 million

(issued and fully paid capital)/

S300.0 million

As at th date of tlis report: $285.0

million (issued ad fully paid

capital/

$300.0 million

As at Decembcr 31, 2022, 2023,

and 2024: RMB 6.0 millior

(irsued and fully paid capital)/

RMBl0.0 nillion

As at June 30, 2025 RMB 10,0

millior

million (issued and fully paid

capilal)RM8 15.0 nillior

100% 100% 100% l00s

100% 100% 100% r00%

10096 t00% 100% 100%

kitrciprlrc(rllls Notes

100% Reseuch,

dev€lopnent ald

opemtion of

a[t0D0m0us

driving pasenger

nobility senice

100% Researc!,

development and

opeiatiol of

altononous

driving pasenger

mobility senice

@,(h)

@,(h)

100 Testing md @, (h)

operation of

autononols

pa$onger vehicles

100% Reseuch,

development and

operation of

autotomous

driving pasenger

mobility seflici

o,ft)

development of

aut0[0m0us

drivirg

technology ald

dak anDotatiol

Januuy 12,

2018

Cuangdong,

PRC

Guangdorg,

PRC

Guangdorg,

Beijing, PRC

Jiangsu, PRC

November 2 I

20t8

Beijing (YX) Pony AI

Tecinology Co., Ltd.

("Beijirg YX") .

Jure i9,2019

Jiangsu Rye Dah Tecltrology July 18, 2019

Co., Ild, ("Jiangsu RD") .

100 1009, 100% 100% 100% Reseuchand (e),(h)
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Sirreholdlng/quity irhred
rltribuhble lo lhe Comp.ny $ rt

Nrn, ofsutsldlary (fld.,

Place lhe

dsle of

itrcorporrlioi/

sloblhhenl

Place ol
E loblllheil/
lncoryoilliotr

Jlm 30'

2015

Tte dste ot
llh repod Prindprl sdhllis

lssed rnd funy Docenber 31, Deftnb€r 31, Decemter ll,
prlil lhrre cspiburoShlered caplbl IlU 2023 20?l

Shargftai (YX) Pory AI

T€chnology Co., Ld.

("Shanghai YX")

Guangzhou (YX) Pony Al

Technology

Co,, Ltd.

Yancheng Poplu LLP.

0uangzhou Pony Truck

Technology

Co., Ltd.

May 29,2020

lwe24,2020

Sfianghai, PRC As at Drcember 31, 2022;

RMB360.0 million (issued and

fully paid capital)/

RMB600.0 million

As at December 31, 2023, 2024 and

Iune 30, 2025 and date of tltis

r€port: RM8495.0 nillion (issued

ard tully paid qpilall

RMB600,0 nillion

Gnangdong, RMB3O.0million

PRC

100% 100% t00% 100%

10096 t00% 1009i 100%

100& Resedcl,

derololment and

operation of

aut0n0n0us

driving pasenget

nobility sewice

1009L Reseilch,

developmont and

operation of

auton0m0us

driving passenger

nobility senice

62% InYe$ncnt platfom

c0mpaIy

10096 Research,

development,

te$ing and

oporation of

robotrucks

developm€nt ald

operation of

aubmmous

drivirg pa$ergor

mobility senice

100% Reseuch,

development,

te$ing and

operation of

robotrucks

@,(ht

@,(h)

@.(il

@,(h)

@,(h)

@.(h)

octoh 28,

2020

December 7,

2020

RMB26.0 million

As at December 31. 2022:

Timjin, PRC

Guangdong,

PRC

62q) 62Ea 62% 62ft

Beijing (RX) Pony AI

Techmlogy

Co., Ltd.

December 14, Eeijirg, PRC

207i

Beijing Pony Truck Technology D*enber 29, Beijirg, PRC

Co,, Ld, 2020

RMB68.0 nillion (isiuod and

fully paid capinl/
RMB100.0 million

As at Dgconber 31, 2023:

RMB100.0 nillion

As at Deconber 31, 2024:

RMB120.0 million (issued atrd

filly paid capihl)i

RMBI30.0 million

As at Jure 30, 2025: RMBI35.0

million (issued and fully paid

@piraly RMB 160.0 nillioD

As at tle date of dis report:

RMBl45.0 nillion (issued and

fully paid capiul)/ RMB160,0

million

As at December 31, 2022:

RM8230,0 nillior (issued ard

fully paid capilal)/

RM850{,0 nillion

As at Decembgr 31, 2023:

RMB3l0.0 nillior (issued and

fully paid capihlY

RMB500.0 millior

As at Decenber 31, 2024 ud date

of tlis report: RM8347,0 million

(issued ard fully paid calilal)/

RM8500.0 millioo

As rt June 30, 2025 and ilre dato of

tlis repn: RMB3?0.0 million

(issued and fully paid capital)/

RMB500.0 millior

As at December 31, 2022 md 2023i

RMB55.0 nillion (issued and

fully paid capital)/

RMBl00,0 million

As at December 31, 2024:

RMB?1.5 million (issued ard

fully paid 6pilal)/
RMBl00.0 millior

As at lun€ 30, 2025r RMB80,0

nillion (issued and fully paid

capilal)i RMB100.0 million

As the date of tiis repon: RMB85.0

million (issued and fully paid

capital)/ RMB100.0 nillior

i00% 10096 100% 100%

r00% 10090 100% 100%

100q) 100% 100% 100% 1009t Reseuch,
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Nrne of rubsidirry (/01.,

Shrreholding/.qDitJ lft Hl
sllribubble to lhe Conlmy $ olPl.c€ ll€

drh of

iftorponlion/
6lrbilsh.nl

Pl.ce of

Eslrbli!ln!nl/
Inconoradot

bs.d .d lully DFenber 31, Decenber 31, Decenber !1,
prid snan crplbungbleild cspibl 2022 2021 2XU

Jur 30,

2n2S

fte drh ot

lhii Eporl Princip.l rctiyili6

ouangzhou Pory Intelligent

Logistics Teclnology

Co., Ltd

Shenzhen (YX) Pony AI

Techmlogy Co., Ltd.

("Sheulen YX")

Cyanhon Logi$tics Technology

Co., Ltd. ("Cyantron

Logistics")

Shanghai (ZX) Pony Al

Techlology Developnent

Co., Ltd.

Qirgdao Cyantrot Logistics

Technology

Co,, Ltd,

Februay l?, Guangdorg, RMBI00.0 millior

M{ch 3,2022 Shanghai, PRC As at December 31, 2022: $10.0

nillion (issued and fully paid

capital/

$100.0 million

As at December 31, 2023: $26.0

nillior (issued and fully paid

mpital)i

$100.0 million

As at December 31, 2024: $61.0

nillion (iuued and fully paid

capiral)i

$100.0 million

As at Jurc 30, 2025 $66,0 nilliotr

(hsued and fully paid capital)/

$100.0 million

As at tle date of drir repon; $?1,0

million (issued and fully paid

capihl/ $100.0 milliotr

Shandorg, As at December 31, 2022:

PRC RMB50,0 million

As at December 31, 2023i

RMB75.0 nilliil (hsued and

fully paid capiial)/

RMB80,0 million

As at Decsmber 31, 2024, June 30,

2025 and the date of lhis reporrl

RMB80.0 million (issued ard

tully paid capilal)/ RMB90.0

million

100% Rsexrch, k),(h)
developnent and

conmercialization

of autonomou$

ddving

techmloSy

5l% Autonomous drivirg (ri, (8J

freight operation

January 19,

2021

April 8, 2021

Guangdong,

PRC

Shenzhen,

PRC

Ar at Decembq 31, 2022 ild 2023:

RMB60,0 millior (irsued and

fully paid capital)/

RM8100,0 nillior

As at December 31, 2024;

RMB69.5 million (issued and

fully paid qlihly

RMBl00,0 million

As atJune 30, 2025: RMB78.0

million (issued and fully paid

capitalY RMB100,0 million

As at tle datB of lhit rcpon:

RMB82,5 nillion (issued and

fully paid capital)/ RMB100.0

million

$51.0 nillion

100% t00% r00% 100qt

100% 100% 100% 100%

51% 5l% 5t% 51

100% 100% 100% 100%

5t% 5M, s$a 5lSa

100% Te$ing ud

opeiatiol of

roborucks

developmont and

operation of

autonomous

drivilg pasenger

nobility senice

5l% Holdingplatfom

c0mpaIy

@,(h)

@,(h)

@,k)
PRC2022

March 14,

2022

-r-26 -



APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

Shsntolding/equltt inkr€st

.llrihubble lo lhe Compsni es rt

Nane of rubsidirry (fo,.,

Plac€ tte

dale ol Phce of

f,il.blirhnenu
Incorporaliotr

tsued rnd lulll Decen}lr 3l' December 31, Decenber 31,

prid llrr csplbl/r€gtt€rid crpibl 2x22 2023 2021

Jutre 30,

t0x
Tte date ol
lhli reporl Prhdprl ac[Ylli6 Ntus

Poly.AI Europe

S,i rl, .

Pony AI - FZCo

Conpary Pony AI

September 4, Escl+ur EUR0.2 milliol

2024 Alzerb,

Lurembourg

April22,2025 Dubai,UAE Nil

May 20, 2025 Riyadh, SAU As at June 30,2025 ard date of

$is rotsfl: nil (isswd and fully

paid apital)/SAR 0.5 nillior

N/A N/A lmgL 100%

N/A N/A N/A IOO%

100% Rseucl,

developnent and

operation of

aulotomous

driving passenger

mobility senice

10096 Reseatch,

dovelolmelt and

operation of

aut0[0n0us

driving pasengei

mobility service

100* R€swch,

development and

operation of

autommous

driving passenger

mobility seryice

N/A N/A N/A l00la

u)

(d)

u)

Notes:

(a) No audited financial statements of Pony.ai, Inc. have been prepared since its respective date of incorporation

as it is incorporated in the jurisdiction where there are no statutory audit requirements.

(b) The statutory financiai statements of Hongkong Pony AI Limited for each of the years ended December 31,

2022,2023 and2024 were prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and were audited by

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants registered in Hong Kong'

(c) The statutory financial statements of these PRC enterprises for each of the years ended December 31,2022,

2O23 and 2024 were prepared in accordance with relevant accounting principles and financial regulations

applicable to the PRC enterprises and were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants

LLP Beijing Branch registered in the PRC.

(d) No statutory audited financial statements of Pony.AI Europe S.ir r.1., Pony Al - FZCO and Company Pony AI
have been prepared since their respective dates of incorporation as they are incorporated in the jurisdiction

where there are no statutory audit requirements.

(e) No statutory audited financial statements of these PRC enterprises for each of the years ended December 31,

2022,2023 and 2O24 have been prepared.

(f) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt secudties at the end of the year.

(g) These non-wholly owned subsidiaries are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

(h) These subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises and limited liability companies established in the

PRC.

(D Such subsidiary is a partnership established in the PRC.
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(b) Consolidated VIEs in the PRC

Applicable PRC laws and regulations prohibit or restrict entities with direct foreign ownership from engaging
in certain businesses activities in the PRC. The Company established a series of contractual arrangements with
Beijing ZX and Guangzhou ZX (the "VIEs") and their shareholders ("Nominee Stockholders") primarily for business
development purposes where the Company's business is currently not subject to any foreign ownership restrictions
under the applicable PRC laws and regulations, it may expand its business operations into areas that are subject to
foreign ownership restrictions through the existing VIEs and other VIEs to be established if necessary.

Historically and as of December 31, 2023, the Company, through Beijing HX and Guangzhou HX (the
"WFOEs"), entered into the following contractual arrangements with the VIEs, and the Nominee Stockholders that
enabled the Company to (1) have power to direct the activities that most significantly affect the economic
performance of the VIEs, and (2) bear the risks and enjoy the rewards normally associated with ownership of the
VIEs. Accordingly, the WFOEs are considered the primary beneficiaries of the VIEs, and the financial results of
operations, assets and liabilities of the VIEs and their subsidiaries were included in the consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2024,Lhe Company completed a series oftransactions to restructure its organization and business
operations (the "Reorganization"). Specifically, Beijing HX, Guangzhou HX, Beijing YX, rhe VIEs and Nominee
Stockholders of the VIEs entered into a series of agreements (the "VIE Reorganization Agreements"), pursuant to
which, Guangzhou HX and Beijing YX acquired lOIVo net assets of the VIEs, from the Nominee Stockholders, at a
consideration of nil, which is a transaction under common control. Upon completion of the Reorganization, the
Company's operations in mainland China are conducted exclusively through its subsidiaries and the Company began
to consolidate all the Group's entities rhrough its direct legal ownership.

The following is a summary of the contractual agreements entered into by and among the WFOEs, the VIEs
and the VIEs' Nominee Stockholders which remained effective until the completion of Reorganization described
above:

i) Contracts that give the Group eflective control of the VIEs

Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements. The Nominee Stockholders of the VIEs have granted the WFOEs the
exclusive and irrevocable right to purchase from the Nominee Stockholders, to the extent permitted under the pRC
laws and regulations, part or all of the equity interests in these entities for a purchase price not higher than the paid
in registered capital of such equity interests. The WFOEs may exercise such an option at any time. In addition, the
VIEs and their Nominee Stockholders have agreed that without prior written consent of the WFOEs, they will not
transfer or otherwise dispose of the equity interests or declare any dividend. The Nominee Stockholders of the VIEs
must appoint the candidates nominated by the WFOEs to be the directors on rheir board of directors ("Board") in
accordance with applicable laws and the articles of association of the VIEs.

Powers of Attorney. Pursuant to the irrevocable powers of attorney, each of the Nominee Stockholders
appointed the WFOEs as their attorney-in-fact to exercise all shareholder rights under the PRC laws and the relevant
articles of association, including but not limited to, voting on their behalf on all matters requiring shareholder
approval, disposing of all or part of the Nominee Stockholders' equity interests, and electing, appointing or removing
directors, the general managers and other senior executives of the VIEs. Each power of attorney will remain in force
during the period when the Nominee Stockholders continue to be shareholders of the VIEs. Each of the Nominee
Stockholders has waived all the rights which have been authorized to the WFOEs under each power of attorney.

Equity Pledge Agreements. Pursuant to the relevant equity pledge agreements, the Nominee Stockholders of
the VIEs have pledged all of their equity interests in relevant VIEs to the WFOEs as collareral for all of their
payments due to the WFOEs and to secure their obligations under the above agreements. The Nominee Stockholders
may not transfer or assign the equity interests, the rights and obligations in the equity pledge agreements or create
or permit to create any pledges which may have an adverse effect on the rights or benefits of the WFOEs without
the WFOEs'pre-approval. The WFOEs are entitled to transfer or assign in full or in part the equity interests pledged.
In the event of default, the WFOEs as the pledgee, will be entitled to dispose the pledged equity interests rhrough
transfer or assignment. The equity pledge agreements will expire when the Nominee Stockholders have completed
all their payments and obligations under the above agreements unless otherwise terminated earlier by the WFOEs.
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Spousal Consent Letters. Pursuant to the spousal consent letters executed by the spouses of respective

Nominee Stockholders of the VIEs, the signing spouses confirm and agree to the execution of the Exclusive Purchase

Option Agreements, the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the Equity Pledge Agreements and Powers of
Attorney by the respective Nominee Stockholders. They further undertake not to hinder the disposal of the equity and

not to make any assertions in connection with the equity of the VIEs held by the applicable Nominee Stockholders,

and confirm that the applicable Nominee Stockholders can perform the relevant transaction documents described

above and further amend or terminate such transaction documents without the authorization or consent from such

spouse. The spouse of each applicable Nominee Stockholders agrees and undertakes that if heishe obtains any equity

of the VIEs held by the applicable Nominee Stockholders for any reasons, he/she would be bound by the transaction

documents.

ii) Contracts that enable the Group to receive substantially all of the economic benefits from the VIEs

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements. The WFOEs and the relevant VIEs entered into exclusive

business cooperation agreements under which the relevant VIEs engage the WFOEs as their exclusive providers of

technical support, intellectual property license, maintenance and other services. The VIEs shall pay to the WFOEs

service fees with 1007o of the VIEs' net profits, or any other amount determined by the WFOEs. The WFOEs

exclusively own any intellectual property arising from the performance of the agreements. These contractual

agreements have an initial term of ten years, and can be extended at the WFOEs' options prior to the expiration date.

During the term of the agreements, the relevant VIEs may not enter into any agreement with third parties for the

provision of identical or similar services without prior consent of the WFOEs.

iii) Risks in relation to the VIE structure

Part of the Group's business is conducted through the VIEs, of which the Company is the ultimate primary

beneficiary. In the opinion of the management, the contractual arrangements with the VIEs and the Nominee

Stockholders are in compliance with the PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable. The

Nominee Stockholders indicate they will not act confiary to the contractual arrangements. However, there are

substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of the PRC laws and regulations including those

that govern the contractual arrangements, which could limit the Group's ability to enforce these contractual

arrangements and if the Nominee Stockholders of the VIEs were to reduce their interests in the Group, their interest

may diverge from that of the Group and that may potentially increase the risk that they would seek to act contrary

to the contractual arrangements. Therefore, the enforceability of the contractual agreements between the Group, the

VIEs and VIEs' Nominee Stockholders depends on whether the Group's shareholders or their PRC subsidiaries will
fulfill these contractual agreements. As a result, the Company may be unable to consolidate the VIEs and the VIEs'

subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements.

On March 15,2019, the National People's Congress approved the Foreign Investment Law, which took effect

on January 1,2020. Along with the Foreign Investment Law, the Implementing Regulation of Foreign Investment

Law promulgated by the State Council and the Interpretation of the Supreme People's Court on Several Issues

Concerning the Application of the Foreign Investment Law promulgated by the Supreme People's Court became

effective on January l,2O2O. Since the Foreign Investment Law and its current implementation and interpretation

rules are relatively new, uncertainties still exist in relation to their further application and improvement. The Foteign

Investment Law and its current implementation and interpretation rules do not explicitly classify whether VIEs that

are controlled through contractual affangements would be deemed as foreign-invested enterprises if they are

ultimately "controlled" by foreign investors. However, it has a catch-all provision under the definition of "foreign

investment" that includes investments made by foreign investors in China through other means as provided by laws,

administrative regulations, or the State Council. Therefore, it still leaves leeway for future laws, administrative

regulations, or provisions of the State Council to provide for contractual arrangements as a form of foreign

investment. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the Group's control over the VIEs through contractual

arrangements will not be deemed as a foreign investment in the future. Furthermore, if future laws, administrative

regulations or provisions mandate further actions to be taken by companies with respect to existing contractual

arrangements, the Group may face substantial uncertainties as to whether the Group can complete such actions in a

timely manner, or at all. Failure to take timely and appropriate measures to cope with any of these or similar

regulatory compliance challenges could materially and adversely affect the Group's current corporate structure and

business operations.
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If the Group is found in violation of any PRC laws or regulations or if the contractual arrangements among
the WFOEs, the VIEs and the VIEs' Nominee Stockholders are determined as illegal or invalid by any PRC court,
arbitral tribunal or regulatory authorities, the relevant governmental authorities would have broad discretion in
dealing with such violation, including, without limitation:

revoke the agreements constituting the contractual arrangements

revoke the Group's business and operating licenses;

require the Group to discontinue or restrict operations;

restrict the Group's right to collect revenue;

restrict or prohibit the Group's use of the proceeds from the public offering to fund the Group's business
and operations in China;

shut down all or part of the Group's websites or services;

levy fines on the Group or confiscate the proceeds that they deem to have been obtained through
non-compliant operations;

require the Group to restructure the operations in such a way as to compel the Group to establish a new
enterprise, re-apply for the necessary licenses or relocate the Group's businesses, staff, and assets;

' impose additional conditions or requirements with which the Group may not be able to comply; or

' take other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful to the Group's business.

The imposition of any of these penalties may result in a material and adverse effect on the Group's ability to
conduct its businesses. In addition, if the imposition of any of these penalties causes the Group to lose the dght to
direct the activities of the VIEs (through its equity interests in its subsidiaries) or the right to receive its economic
benefits, the Group will no longer be able to consolidate the VIEs and the VIEs' subsidiaries, if any. In the opinion
of management, the likelihood of loss in respect of the Group's current ownership structure or the contractual
arrangements with its VIEs is remote. The Group's operations depend on the VIEs and the VIEs' Nominee
Stockholders to honor their contractual arrangements with the Group. These contractual arrangements are governed
by the PRC law and disputes arising out of these agreements are expected to be decided by arbitration in the PRC.
The management believes that each of the contractual arrangements constitutes valid and legally binding obligations
of each party to such contractual arrangements under the PRC laws. However, the interpretation and implementation
of the laws and regulations in the PRC and their application on the legality, binding effect and enforceability of
contracts are subject to the discretion ofcompetent PRC authorities, and therefore there is no assurance thatrelevant
PRC authorities will take the same position as the Group herein in respect of the legality, binding effect and
enforceability of each of the contractual arrangements. Meanwhile, since the PRC legal system continues to evolve,
the interpretations of many laws, regulations and rules are not always uniform and enforcement of these laws,
regulations and rules involve uncertainties, which may limit legal protections available to the Group to enforce the
contractual arrangements should the VIEs or the VIEs'Nominee Stockholders fail to perform their obligations under
those arrangements.
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The financial information of the consolidated VIEs and the VIEs' subsidiaries as of December 31,2O22 and

2023, aftet eliminating the intercompany balances and transaction, is as follows. The information as of December 31,

2024 and June 30, 2025 is not included as it has become inapplicable following the completion of the Reorganization.

As of December 31,

2022 2023

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents.
Restricted cash, current
Short-term investments

Accounts receivable, net.
Amounts due from related parties

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Non-current assets:

Property, equipment and software, net

Operating right-of-use assets

Long-term investments

Other non-current assets

Total assets.

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, current
Non-current liabilities:
Operating lease liabilities, non-current

Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Revenues
Net loss

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities.
Net cash used in finaucing activities

31,607
I,806

r 6,863

4,238
11,921

165

8,958

1,343
I,831
7,073

4,251
851

16,078

4,515

y_440

r 1,558

1,677

r4,389
6,327

T,6n

14

57

7,985:9,798:

8,104
899

795

Year ended December 31,

7,146
768

2022 2023

15,378
(13,466)

(6,331)
(2,980)

(s68)

22,679
(t6,467)

(7,806)
(4,825)

The VIEs contributed an aggregate of 22.5Vo and 31 .5Vo of the consolidated net revenues for the years ended

December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the VIEs accounted for an aggregate

of l}.l7o and 9.lvo, respectively, of the consolidated total assets, and l8.3%o and l5.4Vo, tespectively, of the

consolidated total liabiiities. The assets that were not associated with the VIEs primarily consist of cash and cash

equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments. There are no consolidated VIEs' assets that are

collateral for the VIEs'obligations and can only be used to settle the VIEs'obligations. There are no creditors (or

beneficial interest holders) of the VIEs that have recourse to the general credit of the Company or any of its
consolidated subsidiaries. There are no terms in any arrangements, considering both explicit arrangements and

implicit variable interests that require the Company or its subsidiaries to provide financial support to the VIEs'

However, if the VIEs ever need financial support, the Company or its subsidiaries may, at its option and subject to

statutory limits and restrictions, provide financial support to its VIES through loans to the shareholders of the VIEs

or entrustment loans to the VIEs. Relevant PRC laws and regulations restrict the VIEs from transferring a portion of
their net assets, equivalent to the balance of their statutory reserve and their share capital, to the Company in the form

of loans and advances or cash dividends. Please refer to note l8 for disclosure of restricted net assets. The Group

may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by the VIEs that are important to the operation of business if the

VIEs declare bankruptcy or become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.
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Prior to the Reorganization in February 2O24, the WFOEs were considered the primary beneficiaries of the
VIEs, and the financial results of operations of the VIEs and their subsidiaries were included in the Company's
consolidatedfinancialstatementsfortheyearendedDecember3l,2O24.FromJanuary l,2024tothecompletiondate
of Reorganization in February 2O24, the VIEs were engaged in research and development activities without any
revenue generated, and the related results of operations and cash flows of the VIEs were not material.

(c) Liquidity

The Group incurred net loss of $148.3 million, $125.3 million, $275.0 million, $51.8 million (unaudited) and
$90.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2025,
respectively. Net cash used in operating activities was $154.8 million, $115.4 million, $110.8 million, $59.1 million
(unaudited) and $79.6 million for the years ended December 31,2022,2023,2024 and the six monrhs ended June
30, 2024 and 2025, respectively. Accumulated deficit was $614.7 million, $739.5 million, $1,287.9 million and
$1,384.0 million as ofDecember 31,2022,2023 and2O24, and June 30,2025, respectively. The Group assesses its
liquidity by its ability to generate cash from operating activities based on future commercialization of autonomous
driving technology and attract investors' investments. Historically, the Group has relied principally on non-
operational sources offinancing from investors to fund its operations and business development. The Group's ability
to continue as a going concern is dependent on management's ability to successfully execute its business plan, which
includes increasing revenues while controlling operating expenses, as well as, generating operational cash flows and
continuing to gain support from outside sources of financing. As of December 31,2O22,2023 and 2024, and June
30,2025, the Group had $316.3 million, $426.0 million, $536.0 million and $318.5 million of cash and cash
equivalents, $261.6 million, $163.6 million, $209.0 million and $289.5 million of short-term invesrmenrs,
respectively. Based on the above considerations, the Group believes the cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments are sufficient to meet the cash requirements to fund planned operations and other commitments for at
least the next twelve months from the issuance of the consolidated financial statements. The Company's consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and
liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP

Significant accounting policies followed by the Group in the preparation of its accompanying consolidated
financial statements are summarized below.

(b) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries, the
consolidated VIEs and the VIEs'subsidiaries for which the Company are the primary beneficiary.

All transactions and balances among the Company, its subsidiaries, the consolidated VIEs and the VIEs'
subsidiaries have been eliminated upon consolidation.

(c) Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabiiities at the date of the consotidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of income and
expense during the reporting period. These management estimates include the fair value of share-based awards, fair
value of debt investments in investees' preferred shares and convertible bonds, fair value of warrants liability,
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, useful lives of property and equipment, the discount rate for lease, the
determination of the stand-alone selling price ("SSP"), impairment of long-lived assets, investment in equity
investees and investment securities, and accretion of preferred shares. These estimates are based on information
available as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, therefore, actual results could differ from those
estimates.
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(d) Cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less that are

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value to be cash

equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates the fair value.

(e) Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents that are restricted as to withdrawai or for use or pledged as security are reported

separately as restricted cash. The Group's restricted cash mainly represents security deposits held in designated bank

accounts for office lease contracts in the U.S. and for issuance of letter of guarantee.

(f) Investments in marketable debt securities

Investments in marketable debt securities are recorded as investments under short-term investments and

long-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets based on their remaining contractual maturities.

Investments in marketable debt securities consist of asset-backed securities, Canada treasury securities, commercial

paper, corporate bonds, supranational securities, U.S. agencies securities, U.S. treasury securities, treasury bill,

sovereign government securities, Yankee bonds as well as wealth management products. The Group determines the

appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such determination at each

consolidated balance sheet date. Marketable debt securities are classified as available-for-sale as they do not meet

the criteria of held-to-maturity or trading securities, and are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets

with unrealized gains and losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains or

losses on the sale of these securities are recognized under investment income on the consolidated statements of

operations and comprehensive loss.

The Group evaluates each individual investment periodically for impairment. For investments where the Group

does not intend to sell, the Group evaluates whether a decline in fair value is due to deterioration in credit risk.

Credit-related impairment losses, not to exceed the amount that fair value is less than the amortized cost basis, are

recognized through an allowance for credit losses on the consolidated balance sheets with corresponding adjustment

on the consolidated statements ofoperations and comprehensive loss. Subsequent increases in fair value due to credit

improvement are recognized through reversal of the credit losses and corresponding reduction in the allowance for

credit losses. Any decline in fair value that is non- credit related is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive

(loss) income as a component of shareholders' (deficit) equity. As of December 31,2022,2023 and 2O24, and June 30,

2025,therc were no investments held by the Group that had been in continuous unrealized loss position.

(g) Short-terminvestments

Short-term investrnents are mainly comprised of investments in marketable debt securities, equity investment

with readily determinable fair values and term deposits and certificate of deposits.

For investments in investees'shares with readily determinable fair values, the fair value was determined using

directly observable inputs in the market place. Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying value may no longer be observable, the fair value of aforementioned short-term investments was determined

using models with significant unobservable inputs, primarily the management projection of discounted future cash

flow and the discount rate. The investments with readily determinable fair values are reported at fair value, with

unrealized gains and losses recorded in other income (expenses), net'

(h) Long-terminvestments

Long-term investments are mainly comprised of investments in marketable debt securities, debt investments

in investees' preferred shares, equity investment without readily determinable fair values, equity method investments,

term deposits, certificate of deposits and convertible bonds.

For investments in investees'shares and convefiible bonds which are determined to be debt securities, the

Group accounts for them as available-for-sale investments when they are not classified as either trading or

held-to-maturity investments. Available-for-sale investments are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and

losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income as a component of shareholders' (deficit) equity.
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For investments in common stock or in-substance common stock issued by privately-held companies on which
the Group does not have significant influence, as these equity security investments do not have readily determinable
fair value, the Group measures these equity security investments at cost, less impairment, if any, plus or minus
changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of
the same issuer (referred to as the measurement alternative). All gains and losses on these equity securities without
readily determinable fair value, realized and unrealized, are recognized in other income (expenses), net.

For investments in common stock or in-substance common stock of investee company, over which the Group
can exercise significant influence, but does not have a controlling interest, the Group accounted for the investments
using the equity method. Under the equity method, the Group initially records its investments at cost and
subsequently recognizes the Group's proportionate share of each equity investee's net income or loss into the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss accordingly. The Group reviews its equity method
investments for impairment whenever an event or circumstance indicates that an other-than-temporary impairment
has occurred. In evaluating potential impairment of its equity method investments, the Group considers available
quantitative and qualitative evidence. An impairment charge is recorded when the carrying amount of the investment
exceeds its fair value and this condition is determined to be other-than-temporary.

(i) Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of allowance for doubtful accounts. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is based on the Group's assessment of the collectability of accounts.

The Group evaluates its accounts receivable for expected credit losses on a regular basis in accordance with
ASU No. 2016-13 (Topic 326). The Group regularly reviews the adequacy of the allowance by considering factors,
such as historical experience, credit quality, the age of the accounts receivable balances, and current economic
conditions that may affect a customer's ability to pay. The Group's exposure to credit losses may increase if its
customers are adversely affected by changes, such as economic pressures or uncertainty associated with local or
global economic recessions, or other customer-specific factors. Atthough the Group historically has not experienced
significant credit losses, it will continue to periodically review the allowance and make necessary adjustments
accordingly.

Accounts receivable deemed uncollectible are charged against the allowance for doubtful accounts when
identified. As ofDecember 31 ,2022,2023 and2024, and June 30,2025, the allowance for doubtful accounts provided
was not material.

0) Property, equipment and software, net

Property, equipment and software, net is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and
impairment, if any. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Category Estimated Useful Lives

Computer and equipment
Vehicle and equipment .

Leasehold improvements

Software.
Furniture and fixtures-
Operating lease right-of-use assets

Finance lease right-of-use assets .

3-4 years

3-6 years

Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life of
the asset

3 years

5 years

2-5 years

3-8 years

Direct costs that are related to the construction ofproperty, equipment and software and incurred in connection
with bringing the assets to their intended use are capitalized as construction in progress. Construction in progress is
transferred to specific property, equipment and software items and the depreciation of these assets commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use. As of December 3 l, 2022, 2023 and 2024, and June 30,2025, construction
in progress in the amount of $125, $7, $597 and $8.1 million, respectively, was primarily relating to the construction
of leasehold improvements and assembly of autonomous vehicles.
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(k) Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances (such as a

significant adverse change to market conditions that will impact the future use of the assets) indicate that the carrying

value of an asset may not be fully recoverable or that the useful life is shorter than the Group had originally estimated.

When these events occur, the Group evaluates the impairment for the long-lived assets by comparing the carrying

value of the assets to an estimate of future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the

assets and their eventual disposition, If the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash flows is less than the

carrying value of the assets, the Group recognizes an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying value of
the assets over the fair value of the assets.

(l) Revenuerecognition

The Group adopted ASC Topic 606, "Revenue from Contracts with CustonTers" (ASC 606) for all years

presented. According to ASC 606, revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is

transferred to the customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to be entitled to in
exchange for those goods or services. Revenues are recorded net of discounts, return allowances, and value-added

taxes and surcharges,

The Group determines revenue recognition through the following steps:

identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

identification of the performance obligations in the contracq

determination of the transaction price, including the constraint on variable consideration;

allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

recognition of revenue when, or as, the Group satisfies a performance obligation

Revenues disaggregated by nature for the years ended Decembet 31,2022,2023 and2024, and the six months

ended June 30,2024 and 2O25 consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,

Engineering solution services.

Virtual driver operation services

Sales of products

Total. .

Revenues disaggregated by timing ofrevenue recognition for the years ended December 31,2022,2023 and

2024, and the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2025 consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31, Six monlhs ended Jun€ 30,

A point in time
Overtime

Total-.....

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the principal revenues by nature of the Group

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

(unaudiled)

7,254
14,431
13,749

35,434:

6,195
17,971

554

24,720:

27,984
39,43r
1,610

75,025

40,634
23,912
7,3s3

71,899

44,959
21,421
2,006

68,386

2022 2023 2024 2024

(unaudited)

2025

t8,179
t7,255

35,434:

5,452
19,268

24,720:

3I,55r
43,474

75,025

-

46,600
25,299

71,899:

46,965
21,421

68,386

-
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i) Engineering solution services

The Group derives revenues from providing integrated solutions in relation to autonomous driving to original
equipment manufacturers and other industry participants. The Group's engineering solution contracts with customers
often include obligations to transfer multiple products and services to a customer. In contracts with multiple
deliverables, the Group identifies each performance obligation and evaluates whether the promised goods or services
are distinct within the context of the contract at conoact inception. Promised goods or services that are not distinct
at contract inception are consolidated. The transaction price is generally in the form of a fixed fee at contract
inception, and excludes taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a
specific revenue-producing transaction, that are collected by the Group from a customer.

The Group allocates the transaction price to each distinct performance obligation based on the estimated SSp
for each performance obligation. Judgment is required to determine the SSP for each distinct performance obligation.
In instances where the SSP is not directly observable, such as when the Group does not sell the products or services
separately, the Group estimates the SSP of each performance obligation based on an adjusted market assessment
approach.

Revenues from engineering solution primarily consist of integrated retrofitting services, preparation assistance
services for the autonomous driving test, road-testing services, software licensing and development services, For the
integrated retrofitting services, the Group may provide products as inputs to deliver the combined output of
autonomous services as specified by customers. The revenues from integrated retrofitting services, the preparation
assistance services for the autonomous driving test, road-testing services and software development services are
recognized when control of the services is transferred to customers, which generally occurs when the Group delivers
the services and the substantive customer acceptance is received ("point in time"). Software licensing revenues are
generally recognized over time as the functionality of the software is expected to substantively change, and the Group
is obligated to update the software to latest version of the software during the service period.

ii) Virtual driver operation services

The Group's virtual driver operation service revenues are primarily generated from the operation of the
driverless taxi services and robotruck logistics services.

For robotaxi services, the Group is obliged to provide ride-hailing services, with agreed upon destination, to
riders as a principal through its robotaxis. The customers are individual passengers. The Group charges service fees
calculated by trip mileage. There is only one performance obligation identified for each contract, the taxi services.
The robotaxi services revenues are recognized over time as the Group provides the taxi services. For the contracts
with customers where promotional discounts are provided to riders, the discounts are netted against revenues. The
associated cost of revenues incurred primarily comprised of fuel costs, depreciation of robotaxis, labor costs and
other costs directly attributable to providing the driverless taxi services.

For robotruck logistics services, the Group is obliged to provide freight transportation services, with agreed
upon destination, to the customers as a principal through its robotruck fleets. The customers are corporate entities
and the Group charges fixed service fees determined by mileage and by tonnage. There is only one performance
obligation identified for each contract, the freight transportation services. The Group recognizes revenues over time
as it performs services in the contract because the customers receive the benefit of the services as goods are
transported from one location to another. If the Group were unable to complete delivery to the destination, another
entity would not need to re-perform the transportation services already performed. As control transfers ovgr time,
revenues are recognized based on the extent of progress towards completion of the performance obligation. The
selection of the method to measurs progress towards completion requires judgment and is based on the nature of the
products or services to be provided.

Management estimates the progress based on mileage completed to total mileage to be transported. It normally
takes only one to three days for the Group to complete the performance obligation. The associated cost of revenues
incurred primarily comprised of fuel costs, tolls, insurance costs, depreciation of property and equipment, labor costs
and other costs directly attributable to providing the robotruck logistics services.

iii) Sales of products

The Group sells autonomous driving related products directly to customers. Revenues from the sales of
products are recognized when control of the goods is transferred to customers, which generally occurs when the
products are delivered and accepted by the customers.
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Contrdct balances

Contract assets relate to the Group's right to consideration for performance obligations satisfied but not

billed and consist of unbilled receivables and costs in excess of billings. Contract liabilities relate to customer

payments received in advance of satisfaction ofperformance obligations under the contract which is presented

in accounts payable and other current liabilities. Contract balances are classified as assets or liabilities on a

contract-by-contract basis at the end of each reporting period. There are no contract assets as of June 30, 2025.

Revenues recognized for the years ended December 37,2022,2023,2024 and the six months ended June 30,

2024 and2025 from performance obligations related to prior years were not material.

Practical expedients

The Group has used the following practical expedients as allowed under ASC 606:

(i) The transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially

unsatisfied has not been disclosed, as substantially all of the Group's contracts have a duration

of one year or 1ess.

(ii) Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a

requirement of prepayment or payment within one year or less. In instances where the timing of
revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, the Group has determined that its

contracts generally do not include a significant financing component.

(m) Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues consists of expenses relating to salaries and benefits of supporting engineers and other direct

supporting personnel, materials and supplies, depreciation offixed assets, and other costs incurred to directly support

the fulfillment of the revenue contracts, such as rental expenses, bandwidth and data center expenditures.

(n) Research and development expenses ("R&D expenses")

R&D expenses consist primarily of (i) personnel costs representing salaries, benefits, share-based

compensation, and bonuses for R&D personnel; (ii) direct input of materials and supplies expenses in relation to

R&D; and (iii) certain other expenses, such as office rental expenses, bandwidth and data center expenditures,

utilities, depreciation of equipment and other expenses incurred in R&D.

The Group follows the provisions of ASC 985, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold,

Leased, or Otherwise Marketed, which requires that software development costs incurred in conjunction with

development be charged to R&D expenses until technological feasibility is established. The technological feasibility

is established upon completion of a working model. The costs incurred by the Group between technological

feasibility and general release to the public have been insignificant. Accordingly, all R&D costs have been expensed

as incurred.

(o) Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of (i) personnel costs representing salaries,

benefits, share-based compensation, and bonuses for the general and administrative personnel; (ii) professional

services expenses; and (iii) certain operating expenses, such as office rental expenses, utilities and other expenses

necessary to support the Group's business.

(p) Leases

In accordance with ASC Topic 842, Leases ("ASC 842"), the Group uses the modified retrospective transition

approach through a cumulative-effect adjustment in the period of adoption rather than retrospectively adjusting prior

periods. The Group classified its leases as operating or finance leases in accordance with the recognition criteria in

ASC 842-20-25.

The Group recorded the leases of office spaces and warehouses as operating leases in different cities in the

PRC and U.S.. The Group begins recognizing rent expenses when the lessor makes the underlying assets available

to the Group. The Group's leases have remaining lease terms of up to eight years, some of which include options to

extend the leases for an additional period which has to be agreed with the lessors based on mutual negotiation. After
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considering the factors that create an economic incentive, the Group did not include renewal option periods in the
lease term for which it is not reasonably certain to exercise. For short-term leases with lease term less than one year,
the Group records operating lease expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss on
a straight- line basis over the lease term and records variable lease payments as incurred.

The Group recorded the leases of logistics vehicles and containers as finance leases as the lease terms cover
majority of the remaining economic life of the underlying assets. The Group determines whether an arrangement
constitutes a lease and records lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on the consolidated balance sheets at the lease
commencement. The Group measures its lease liabilities based on the present value of the total lease payments not
yet paid discounted based on the more readily determinable of the rate implicit in the lease or its incremental
borrowing rate, which is the estimated rate the Group would be required to pay for a collateralized borrowing equal
to the total lease payments over the term of the lease. The Group estimates its incremental borrowing rate based on
an analysis of publicly traded debt securities of companies with credit and financial profiles similar to its own. The
Group measures right-of-use assets based on the corresponding lease liabilities adjusted for payments made to the
lessor at or before the commencement date, and initial direct costs it incurs under the lease.

(q) Share-based compensation

Share-based awards granted are measured at fair value on grant date and share-based compensation expenses
are recognized (a) for the awards granted with only service condition, using the straight-line attribution method, net
of actual forfeitures as they occur, over the vesting period; (b) for the awards granted with service condition and
performance condition, the share-based compensation expenses are recorded when the performance condition is
considered probable using the graded vesting method. Where the occurrence of IPO is a performance condition,
cumulative share-based compensation expenses for the awards that have satisfied the service condition should be
recorded upon the occurrence of an IPO. The IPO was completed in November 2024 and the share awards for which
the service condition had been met became vested. The remaining share awards will be vested as the service
conditions are met.

The Group selected the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the method for determining the estimated fair
value for share options. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective and complex
assumptions, which determine the fair value of share-based awards, including the share option's expected term, the
price volatility of the underlying stock, risk-free interest rate and expected dividend yield.

(r) Governmentsubsidies

The government subsidies provided by the local government mainly included funding to support the growth
of the Group. Government subsidies are mainly recognized upon receipt as government subsidies income because the
subsidies are not intended to compensate for specific expenditure, not subject to future return or not related to future
performance obiigation. For the years ended December 31, 2022,2023,2024 and the six months ended l:|Iile 30,2O24
and2025, $7.6 million, $7.1 million, $6.5 million, $1.3 million (unaudited) and $1.5 million were received and
recognized as other income (expenses), net on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss,
respectively.

(s) Employee defined contribution plan

PRC Contribution Plan

Full-time employees of the Group in the PRC participate in a government-mandated multi-employer
defined contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance,
employee housing fund, and other welfare benefits are provided to employees. Chinese labor regulations
require that the Group makes contributions to the government for these benefits based on certain percentages
of the employees' salaries. The Group has no legal obligation for the benefits beyond the contributions. Total
amounts for such employee benefits, which were expensed as incurred, were $13.5 million, $13.2 million,
$14.6 million, $7.1 million (unaudited) and $8.1 million for the years ended December 31,2022,2023,2024
and the six months ended June 30, 2024 and,2025, respectively.
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U.S. Contribution Plan

The Group sponsored a qualified 401(k) defined contribution plan covering eligible employees starting

January l, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group's conhibution method was to match

employee's elective deferrals on a dollar-for-dollar basis up Io 3Vo of the employee's compensation. The Group

incurred $0.8 million of 401(k) and Simple Individual Retirement Account ('IRA") employer match expenses

for the year ended December 31,2022. Under both plans, participants may contribute a portion of their annual

compensation limited to a maximum annual amount set by the Internal Revenue Service. The Group has

decided to discontinue the contribution plan starting from 2023, therefore the Group did not incur any of
401 (k) and IRA employer match expenses for the years ended Decemb er 31, 2023 and 2024 and the six months

ended June 30,2024 (unaudited) and 2O25, respectiveiy.

(t) Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Current income taxes are provided on the

basis of net income for financial reporting purposes, adjusted for income and expense items which are not assessable

or deductible for income tax purposes, in accordance with the regulations of the relevant tax jurisdictions, Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the

financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss

and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to

apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.

The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that

includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that

some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Group recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of
being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 507o likely
ofbeing realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change injudgment

occurs. As of December 31,2022,2023 and 2O24, and June 30, 2025, the Group did not have any significant

unrecognized uncertain lax positions.

The Group recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of income tax

expenses.

(u) PRC Value-added tax ('VAT")

The Group's subsidiaries, the consolidated VIEs and the VIEs'subsidiaries incorporated in China are subject

to statutory VAT rate of 6Vo and 9Vo for setvices rendered and l3Vo for goods sold.

(v) Fair value measurements

Fair value accounting is applied for all assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities that are

recognized or disclosed at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually).

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The authoritative guidance establishes a fair value

hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the

highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level I measurements)

and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three

levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level I - Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that

the Group has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 - Inputs are other-than-quoted prices included within Level I that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or

liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are

not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, or inputs that are

derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 - Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
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Accounting guidance also describes three main approaches to measuring the fair value ofassets and liabilities:
(l) market approach; (2) income approach and (3) cost approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant
information generated from market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The income
approach uses valuation techniques to convert future amounts to a single present value amount. The measurement is
based on the value indicated by current market expectations about those future amounts. The cost approach is based
on the amount that would currently be required to replace an asset.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement in its entirety falls is based on the
lowestlevel input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The fair values of the Group's
investments are based upon prices provided by an independent source. The Group has reviewed these prices for
reasonableness and has not adjusted any prices received from the independent provider. Securities reported at fair
value utilizing Level I inputs represent assets whose fair value is determined based upon observable unadjusted
quoted market prices for identical assets in active markets. Level 2 securities represent assets whose fair value is
determined using observable market information, such as previous day trade prices, quotes from less active markets,
or quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics. Except for the transfer described in note 5(a), there were
no othe( transfers between Level I, Level2 and Level 3 investments during the years ended December 31,2022,
2023,2024 and the six months ended June 30, 2024 and2025.The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, amounts
due from related parties, current and accounts payable approximates the fair value because of their short-term nature.

(w) Foreign currency

The Group's reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The Group determines its functional currencies based on the
criteria of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 830, Foreign Curency Matters. The functional currency of the
Company's subsidiaries in the United States and Hong Kong, China is the U.S. dollar. The functional currencies of
its subsidiaries, the VIEs, and the VIEs' subsidiaries in Mainland China are the Renminbi ("RMB"). The Group uses
the monthly average exchange rate for the year and the exchange rate at the consolidated balance sheet date to
translate the operating results and financial position, respectively. Equity accounts are translated at historical
exchange rates. Translation differences are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, as a

component of shareholders' (deficit) equity.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are remeasured into the functional currency at the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
remeasured into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the consolidated balance sheet date. The
Group reflects net foreign exchange transaction gains and losses resulting from the conversion of the foreign
currencies to functional currency included in other income (expenses), net.

(x) Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the changes in equity of the Company during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances excluding transactions resulting from investments from shareholders
and distributions to shareholders. Comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented includes net loss, change
in foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments.

(y) Non-controllinginterests

The Company's consolidated financial statements include entities in which the Company has a controlling
financial interest. Earnings or losses attributable to minority shareholders of the consolidated affiliated companies are
classified separately as "non-controlling interests" in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

(z) Net loss per share

Net loss per share is computed in accordance withASC 260,"Earnings per Share". The two-class method is
used for computing earnings per share in the event the Group has net income available for distribution. Under the
two-class method, net income is allocated between ordinary shares and other participating securities based on their
participating rights. Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares have the same rights in dividend. Therefore,
basic and diluted loss per share is the same for both classes of ordinary shares. The Group's Preferred Shares are
considered as participating securities because they are entitled to receive dividends or distributions on an as if
converted basis if the Group has net income available for distribution under certain circumstances. Net losses are not
allocated to other participating securities as they are not obligated to share the losses based on their contractual terms.
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Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the yearlperiod. Diluted net loss per share is calculated by

dividing net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders, as adjusted for the effect of dilutive ordinary equivalent

shares, if any, by the weighted average number of ordinary and dilutive ordinary equivalent shares outstanding during

the yeariperiod. Ordinary equivalent shares consist of ordinary shares issuable upon the conversion of the Preferred

Shares using as-if- converted method and ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise and settlement of share options

and RSUs using the treasury stock method. Ordinary equivalent shares are not included in the denominator of the

diluted net loss per share calculation when inclusion of such share would be anti-dilutive.

(aa) Segment reporting

Based on the criteria established by ASC 280, operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise

(business activity from which it earns revenues and incurs expenses) for which discrete financial information is

available and regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") in deciding how to allocate

resoutces and in assessing performance. The Group's CODM has been identified as its Chief Executive Officer, who

reviews consolidated results when making decisions about resource allocation and performance evaluation of the

Group as a whole and does not distinguish between markets or segments. Therefore, the Group has only one

reportable segment. Accordingly, the CODM uses the consolidated net loss to measure segment profit or loss, allocate

resources, and assess performance. The CODM is regularly provided with the consolidated expenses as noted on the

face of the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and uses net loss to monitor budget versus

actual results when making decisions about the allocation of operating and capital resources.

The assets ofthe Group are held in the PRC and the U.S. The long-lived assets as ofDecember 31,2022,2023

and 2024, and June 30, 2025, are as follows:

As of December 31, As of
June 30,

20252022 2024

The PRC

The U.S

Total. .

For the years ended December37,2022,2O23 and2024, and the six months ended June 30,2024 and2O25,

the Group's total revenues by geographic area are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Six months end€d June 30,

2022 2023 2024 2025

(unsudited)

The PRC

The U.S

Total. .

(ab) Recently issued accounting pronouncements

The Company is an emerging growth company ("EGC") as defined by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act

("JOBS Act"). The JOBS Act provides that an EGC can take advantage of extended transition periods for complying

with new or revised accounting standards. This allows an EGC to delay adoption of certain accounting standards until

those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. The Company elected to take advantage of the extended

transition periods. However, this election will not apply should the Company cease to be classified as an EGC.

2023

43,117

2,664

f!8t

28,633
1,950

30,583

18,179
3,660

,J,83r_

3r,360
3,605

34,965:

2024

35,385

49

y,4s!

24,527
193

24,720

74,421

604

75,025

71,578
321

T,8r9_

57,859
10,527

68,386
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New accounting standards which have been adopted

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2023-07,
Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which aims to improve
financial reporting by requiring disclosure of incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis
to enable investors to develop more decision-useful financial analyses. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15,2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024.Early adoptionispermitted.TheCompanyadoptedASU2023-0TonJanuary l,2024andtheadoprion
of this ASU does not have material impact to the consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 2. Summary
Of Significant Accounting Policies - 

(aa) Segment reporting.

Recent accounting pronouncements not let ailopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures, which aims to improve the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring
consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid
disaggregated by jurisdiction. For public business entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15,2024 (2025 for calendar-year-end public business entities) and for interim
periods for fiscal years beginning after December 15,2025. Early adoption is permitted. The Group does not
expect the adoption of the ASU to have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive
Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement
Expenses. This update requires that at each interim and annual reporting period public entities disclose (l) the
amounts of purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, amortization, and depletion) in
commonly presented expense captions; (2) certain amounts that are already required to be disclosed under
current GAAP in the same disclosure as the other disaggregation requirements; (3) a qualitative description of
the amounts remaining in relevant expense captions that are not separately disaggregated quantitatively; and
(4) the total amount of selling expenses and, in annual reporting periods, the definition of selling expenses.
In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income -Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Clarifying the Effective Date. For public business
entities, this update is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,2026, and interim
periods within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,2027. Early adoption is permitted. The
Group expects the adoption of the ASU will result in additional disaggregation of expense captions within its
footnote disclosures.

In July 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-05, Measurement of Credit Losses for Accounts Receivable
and Contract A,rsels. This standard inuoduces a practical expedient that companies can choose to apply when
determining allowances for credit losses. Specifically, it permits companies to assume that the current
conditions as of the balance sheet remain unchanged throughout the remaining life of the asset. The
amendments is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025, and requires
prospective application. The Group does not expect the adoption of the ASU to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

3. CONCENTRATIONS AND RISKS

(a) Concentration of customers and suppliers

Three customers represented 31.0 Vo, 15.4Vo and 72.3Vo, rcspectively, of the total revenues for the year ended
December 31,2022. Two customers represented 3l.3Vo and25.0Vo,rcspectively, of the total revenues for the year
ended December 37,2023. One customer represented 29.8Vo of the total revenues for the year ended December 31,
2024. One customer represented 49.9Vo (unatdited) of the total revenues for the six months ended June 30,2O24.
Three customers represented 3l.4Vo, 16.8%o and, 15.7Vo of the total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2025,
respectively. There are no suppliers from whom purchases individually represent greater than 10Vo of the total
purchases ofthe Group for the years ended December31,2022,2023,2024 and the six months ended June30,2025.
One supplier represented 15.4Vo (unaudited) of the total purchases for the six months ended June 30, 2024. Three
customers accounted for 40.57o, 24.7Vo and l0.6Vo, rcspectively, of the total accounts receivable as of December 31,
2022. Four customers accounted for 24.5Vo, 16.5%o, 16.l%o and 13.3Vo, respectively, of the total accounts receivable
as of December 31,2023. Two customers accounted for 17.9Vo and l1.3%o, respectively, of the total accounts
receivable as of December 31,2O24, while there is no customer from whom accounted for greater than l07o of the
total accounts receivable as of June 30,2025.
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(b) Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of

cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable. The Group invests its excess cash in

low-risk, high credit quality and highly liquid securities, and places its cash and cash equivalents and short-term

investments in the financial institutions which the management believes are of high credit quality. Securities of any

given issuer valued at cost at the time of purchase should not exceed 5Vo of the market value of the portfolio or $ I '0
million, whichever is greater. For purposes of this diversification restriction, securities of a parent company,

subsidiaries, and entities acquired or merged will be combined. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,

short-term investments, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables. The carrying

amount of these financial assets represents the maximum amount of loss due to credit risk. Accounts receivable are

typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned directly from customers. The risk with respect to accounts

receivable is mitigated by credit evaluations the Group performs on its customers and its ongoing monitoring

processes of outstanding balances.

(c) Currency convertibility risk

The PRC government imposes controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies. The Group's cash

and cash equivalents and short-term investments denominated in RMB that are subject to such government controls

amounted to $162.1 million, $166.8 million and $126.6 million and $144.4 million as of Decembet 31,2022,2023
and2024, and June 30,2025, respectively. The value of RMB is subject to changes in the central government policies

and to international economic and political developments affecting supply and demand in the PRC foreign exchange

trading system market. In the PRC, certain foreign exchange transactions are required by law to be transacted only

by authorized financial institutions at exchange rates set by the People's Bank of China (the "PBOC"). Remittances

in currencies other than RMB by the Group in the PRC must be processed through the PBOC or other Chinese foreign

exchange regulatory bodies which require certain supporting documentation in order to process the remittance.

(d) Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Since June 2010, the RMB has fluctuated against the US$, at times significantly and unpredictably. The

depreciation of the RMB against the US$ was approximately 9Vo,2Vo, l%o arrd 0.7Vo (unaudited) for the years ended

December 31,2022,2023,2024 and the six months ended June 30, 2024,respectively. The appreciation of the RMB

against the US$ was approximately O.4Vo for the six months ended June 30,2025.It is difficult to predict how market

forces or the PRC or U.S. government policy may impact the exchange rate between the RMB and the US$ in the

future.

4. INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE DEBT SECURITIES

Investments in marketable debt securities are recorded as short-term investments and long-term investments

on the consolidated balance sheets. The following is a summary of the Group's investments in marketable debt

securities as of December 31,2022,2O23 and 2O24, and June 30, 2025:

As of December 31, 2022

Amortized Cost
Gross

Unrealiz€d Gain
Gross

Unrealized Loss
Eslimated
Fair Value

Asset backed securities.

Canada treasury securities.
Commercial paper. . .

Corporate bonds. .

Supranational securities

U.S. agencies securilies

U.S. treasury securities.

Yankee bonds.

Wealth management products

Total. .

30,408

1,999

22,925
108,337

8,459
13,994
24,012
17,305
87,920

315,359

115

115:

(635)
(1)

29,773
1,992

22,925
106,655

8,408

13,592
23,543
t7,191
88,035

3t2,l14

(t,682)
(s t)

(402)
(46e)
(1 r4)

(3,360)
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Asset backed securities.
Corporate bonds. .

Yankee bonds.
Wealth management products

Total. .

Asset backed securities.
Commercial paper. . . . . . .

Corporate bonds .

Treasurybill...
U.S. treasury securities.
Yankee bonds.
Wealth management products

Total. .

As of Decenber 31, 2023

Amortized Cost
Gross

UDrealized Gain
Gross

Unrealized Loss
Estimated
Fsir Value

Amortized Cost
Gross

Unrealized Gain
Gross

Unreallzed Loss
Estimated
Fair Value

As of June 30, 2025

Amortized Cosl
Gross

Unrealized Galn
Gross

Unrealized Loss
Estimated
Fair Value

1,933
14,129
6,500

66,369

88,931:

(2e)
(82)

(111):
97

97:

1,962
14,211
6,500

66,272

8E,945

6,404
1,593

87,428
5,928
7,995
5,589

87,947

208,884

As of December 31, 2024

34;

3s2:

6,400
7,592

87,591
5,925
8,039
5,601

87,603

208,751:

4
I

3

(r6;)

(44)
(r2)

(2te):

Asset backed securities.
Commercialpaper. . . . : . . .

Corporate bonds. .

Soverei gn governmenl. securities
Treasurybill...
U.S. treasury securities.
Yankee bonds.
Wealth management products .

Total. .

Investments in marketable debt securities
(note 6)

Debt investments in investees' preferred shares
(note 5a and note 6) . . .

Equity investment without readily determinable
fair values (note 5d).

Equity method investment (note 5b)
Term deposits and certificate of deposits

(note 6)
Convertible bonds (note 5c and note 6) . . . . .

Total .

42,094
1,169

187,444
3,756

31,346
20,833
6,942

53,631

347_2rs,

(ll)

(11):

l7

76
20

23
I

170

307
::::

42,1tt
1,169

187,520
3,776

31,335
20,856
6,943

53,801

347,sLL:

5. LONG.TERMINVESTMENTS

Long-term investments are mainly comprised of investments in marketable debt securities, debt investments
in investees' preferred shares, equity investment without readily determinable fair values, equity method investments,
term deposits, certificate of deposits and convertible bonds. The following is a summary of long-term investments:

The Group

As of Decenber 31, As of
June 30,

202s2023 20242022

50,471

29,702

480

t,933

49,307

472

58,373

35,076

104,272

18,459

28,405
15,46r

465
r 5,368

35, I 80
12,365

,r4!4'

21,517

rylzlgfr

- r-44 -
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The Company

As of December 31, As of
June 30,

20252024

Investments in markehble debt securities
(note 6)

Convertible bonds (note 5c) . . . . . . . .

Total -

50,471 1,933 58,373

(a) Debt investments in investees'preferred shares

In January 202l,the Group invested in the convertible redeemable preferred shares of a private company

which engaged in graphics processing unit ("GPU") computing technology and service at the amount of $4.0 million.
In January 2025, the Group disposed a portion of the investment for cash consideration of $16.7 million, which is

based on the fair value of the investment as of the disposal date, resulting in a reclassification of accumulated realized

gain of $15.0 million from other comprehensive income to investment income.

In J,,tly 2022 and Aprit 2023, the Group invested in the convertible redeemable preferred shares of a company

engaged in the app-based ride-hailing vehicle business at cash consideration of $15.0 million and $15.0 million,
respectively. Considering the substantive redemption rights, the Group ciassified these investments as available-for-

sale investments, recorded under long-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets as ofDecember 31,2022

and 2023. ln luly 2024, along with the listing of the investee, the Group's preferred shares in the investee were

automatically converted into ordinary shares, and the Group measured the fair value of its investments in ordinary

shares using the market approach based on the quoted stock price of the investee and has classified it as Level I

measurement. Since the Group does not intend to hold the listed common shares more than twelve months, the

investment of $38.7 million has been reclassified to short-term investments as equity investment with readily

determinable fair values since the investee's listing date. As of December 31,2024, the balance of this investment

of $19.7 million was recorded in the short-term investments. For the years ended December 31,2024, $17.2 million
unrealized loss was recorded in other income (expenses), net.

For the years ended December31,2022,2023,2024 and the six months ended June 30,2025,$5.6 miilion,

$4.8 million, $24.7 million and nil unrealized gain was recorded in other comprehensive income, respectively.

These available-for-sale debt investments are carried at fair value. The Group uses backsolve method with
significant unobservable inputs to measure the fair value of the investments (Level 3), which primarily include the

recent transaction price of the underlying private company's securities and discount for lack of marketability

C'DLOM'). The DLOM used to measure the fair value of the investments is 74Vo to 26Vo during the Track Record

Period. A 5Vo increaseldecrease in the DLOM used in isolation would decrease/increase the carrying amount of these

available-for-sale investments by $1.8 million to $3.1 million during the Track Record Period.

As of December 31, 2O22,2023 and 2024, and June 30, 2025, no impairment indicator was identified

associated with the available for-sale debt investments.

(b) Equity method investment

In May and September 2024,the Group paid $1.6 million and $2.6 million in cash, respectively, to a joint
venture as initial investment in its common shares, to subscribe 50Vo eqluity rights of the investee, to advance the

future mass production and large-scale deployment of fully driverless vehicles. Since the Group can exercise

significant influence over the joint venture, and does not have a controlling interest, this investment is accounted for
using the equity method.

In November 2024,the Group, as a limited partner, paid $11.2 million in cash to a fund as initial investment,

to subscribe gg.gEo equity rights of the fund for future investment in automation driving industry. Since the Group

can exercise significant influence over the fund, in which all partners have veto rights, and the Group does not have

a controlling interest, this investment is accounted for using the equity method.

20232022

104,272
12,365

116,637:58,3731,933*,^:
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(c) Convertible Bonds

In February 2025, the Group entered into an agreement with a South Korean public listed company, to
subscribe its convertible bonds. The total subscription consideration was KRWI5.3 billion (equivalent to $10.5
million). The convertible bonds have a maturity date on January 13, 2028. The Group has the unilateral right to
request early redemption of the convertible bonds every six months after holding them for one year, with an
applicable compound interest rule of3Vo. Additionally, the convertible bonds grant the Group the dght to convert
them into a specified number of common shares at any time from one yeat after issuance until the maturity date of
January 13,2028, based on the conversion rate specified in the agreement.

The convertible bonds are classified as available-for-sale debt securities, as they do not meet the criteria for
held-to-maturity or trading securities. They are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets, with
unrealized gains and losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income. For the six months ended
June 30, 2025,the Company recorded an unrealized gain of $1.0 million in accumulated other comprehensive income
based on its fair value.

(d) Equity investment without readily determinable fair values

In May 2025, the Company made a $27.9 million investment in a private new energy vehicle company,
acquiring a 0.5577Vo equity interest. Given that the Company does not have significant influence and the equity
investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, the Group elects measurement alternative to the fair value
measurement for the equity security without readily determinable fair values, under which the investment is measured
at cost, less impairment, plus or minus observable price changes of an identical or similar investment of the same
issuer with the fair value change recorded in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

The following table summarizes the activities related to fair value of the debt investments in investees
preferred shares and convertible bonds, which are recorded as available-for-sale investments:

Year ended December 31,
Six months

ended
June 30,

20252023 20242022

Fair value of available-for-sale debt
investments at the beginning of the
year/period (Level 3)

Additions 
- initial investment

Reclass to short-term investments (note 5a)
Change in fair value
Disposal of available-for-sale debt investment
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . .

Fair value of available-for-sale debt
investments at the end of the year/period
(Level 3)

49,307

5,620 4,828
(38,738)

24,736

(1,028) (223) (22e)

10,110

15,000
29,702
15,000

35,076
10,486

r,040
(16,693)

915

s0a!:s,0r!49,30729,702

- t-46 -



APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value measurements or disclosed on a recurring basis

The Group

The fair value measurements of assets and liabilities that are measured or disclosed at fair value on a recurring
basis as of December 31,2022, 2023 and 2024, and June 30, 2025, are as follows:

As of Decemb€r 31, 2022

LeYel 1 LeYel 2 Level 3 Total

Category
Cash equivalents:

Commercialpaper ....
Corporatebonds... .::
Money market funds. . . . .

Subtotal.

Short-term investments:
Asset backed securities
Canada treasury securities
Commercial paper

Corporate bonds .

Supranational securities .

U.S. agencies securities .

U.S, treasury securities
Yankee bonds
Wealth management products

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Subtotal.

Long-term investments:
Asset backed securities
Corporate bonds .

Yankee bonds

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Debt investments in investees'
preferred shares (note 5a)

Subtotal.

Total assets at fair value . . .

Warrants liability (note 12)

42,928
2,998

38,954

38,954 45,926

4,495
1,992

22,925
87,93r

8,408
13,592

10,722
88,035

23,543 238,L00

23,543 238,100

25,278
18,724
6,469

50,471

50,471

62,497 334,497

23,543

42,928
2,998

38,954

84,880

4,495
1,992

22,925
87,931

8,408
13,592
23,543
10,722
88,035

261.,643

261,643

25,278
18,724
6,469

50,471

29,702

80,173

426,696

2,516

29,702

29,702

29,702:
2,516
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As of December 31, 2023

Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total

Category
Cash equivalents:

Commercial paper

Corporate bonds .

Money market funds . .

SubtotaI.

Short-term investments:
Corporate bonds

Yankee bonds

Wealth management products

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Equity investment with readily
determinable fair values
(note b)

Equity securities. . . .

Term deposits and certificate of
deposits (note a).

Subtotal.

Long-term investments:
Asset backed securities

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Debt investments in investees'
preferred shares (note 5a) . .

Subtotal.

Total assets at fair value

Warrants liability (note 12)

77,370
4,749

117,492

117,492 E2,ll9

14,129
6,500

66,369

86,998

5,273

5,273

71,323

5,273 158,32L

r,933

1,933

77,370
4,749

r17,492

l99,6tl

14,129
6,500

66,369

86,998

5,273

5,273

71,323

163,594

1,933

1,933

49,307

5L,240

414,445:
5,617

49,307

49,307

49,307:
5,6t7

t,t*
242,373:122,765:
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As of December 31, 2024

Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total

Category
Cash equivalents:

Commercial paper .

Subtotal.

Short-term investments:
Asset backed securities
Commercial paper

Corporate bonds .

Treasury bill. . .

U.S. treasury securities
Yankee bonds

Wealth management products

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Equity investment with readily
determinable fair val,tes (note b

and note 5a) . . .

Equity securities. . . .

Term deposits and certificate of
deposits (note a).

Subtotal.

Long-term investments:
Asset backed securities
Corporate bonds .

U.S. treasury securities
Yankee bonds

Wealth management products

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Debt investments in investees'
preferred shares (note 5a) . .

Term deposits and certificate of
deposits (note a and note 5)

Subtotal.

Total assets at fair value

1,948
2,009

82,930

1,948 148,563

23,988

23,988

34,536

25,936 183,099

6,074
37,655

6,O47

3,580

5,0r7

6,047 52,326

4,488 4,488

4,488

330

7,593
49,773

5,928
1,948

2,009
82,930

150,511

23,988

23,988

34,536

209,035

4,488

330

7,593
49,773

5,928

21,5L7

114,966

328,489:
35,076

35,076

21,517

73,843

26L,430

tw
31,983:

6,074
37,655
6,047
3,580
5,017

58,373

35,076 35,076

- I-49 -
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As of June 30, 2025

Level 1 Level 2 LeY€l 3 Total

Category
Cash equivalents:

Corporate bonds . .

Treasurybill......
Certificate of deposits

Subtotal.

Short-term investments:
Commercial paper

Corporate bonds .

Treasury bill. . .

U.S. treasury securities
Sovereign government securities.
Yankee bonds

Wealth management products

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Equity investment with readily
determinable faft val:ues (note b
ond note 5a) . . .

Equity securities. .

Term deposits and certificate of
deposits (note a).

Subtotal.

Long-term investments:
Asset backed securities
Corporate bonds .

U.S. treasury securities
Yankee bonds

Sovereign government security
Wealth management products

Marketable debt securities
(note 4)

Debt investments in investees'
preferred shares (note 5a) . .

Convertible bonds (note 5c). . .

Term deposits and certificate of
deposits (note a and note 5)

Subtotal.

Total assets at fair value

9,819
1,324

5,683

48,769

ll,t43 232,096

17,97 |

17,971

28,283

29,1L4 260,379

42,ttt
42,380

ll,o37
1,260

2,452

5,O32

1,497

30,160
500

32,157

1,497

30,160
500

1,169

r45,140
31,335

32,157

1,169

t45,t40
3r,335
9,819
r,324
5,683

48,769

243,239

t7 ,97 |

L7,971

2E,283

289,493

42,111
42,380
lt,037
1,260
2,452
5,032

13,489 90,783 104,272

L8,459 18,459

12,365 12,365

Note a: Term deposits and certificate of deposits are deposits of fixed interest rate with original maturities
between three months and one year, and above one year, which are recorded in short-term
investments and long-term investments based on the maturities.

Note b: The Group measuted the fair value of its investment in common shares using the market approach
based on the quoted stock price of its investees in the active market and classified it as Level I
measurement.

35,1 80

170,276

491,926:

*,f
30,824

35,180

125,963

418,499:

rrl*
!,603

- I-50 -
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As of December 31,2023, the balance of the investment was $5.3 million, with a decrease of $4.7

million from fair value change recorded in other income (expenses), net. The investment represents

accounts receivable for engineering solution services provided in2022, subsequently in 2023 settled

in shares issued by a customer, whose shares are publicly traded. This investment has been disposed

in September 2024, with realized loss of $1.0 million on disposal date recorded in investment

income.

As of December 31,2024, the balance of the investments was $24.0 million, which includes a new

equity investment of $4.3 million in the common shares of one listed company and another equity

investment of $19.7 million reclassified from long-term investments (refer to note 5a). For the new

equity investment, $1.0 million decrease in fair value was recorded in other income (expenses), net.

As of June 30, 2025, the balance of the investments was $18.0 million, which includes equity

investment of $13.9 million and $4.1 million in the common shares of two listed companies. During

the six months ended June 30,2025, $6.0 million decrease in fair value of equity investments was

recorded in other income (expenses), net.

The following table summarizes the activities related to fair value of warrants liability:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,

2023 2024 2024

(unaudited)

202s2022

Balance at the beginning
oftheyear/period....

Issuance of warrants
Change in fair value
Exercise of the warrants .

Balance at the end of the
year/period

Asset backed securities
Canada treasury securities. . .

Commercial paper. .

Corporate bonds .

Supranational securities
U.S. agencies securities
U.S. treasury securities
Yankee bonds.
Wealth management products .

Total short-term investments at
fair value

6,429
(3,887)

(26)

2,516

3,030
7t

5,617 5,617

(s,617) (s,617)

5,617:2,5L6

-
The Group uses option-pricing model with significant unobservable inputs to measure the fair value of the

warrants liability (Level 3), which primarily include the fair value of the Series D Preferred Shares as well as

assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables, including the expected volatility of fair value

of shares, risk-free interest rates and expected dividends.

Fair value measurements on a non-recurring basis

The Group measures property, equipment and software, operating and finance lease right-of-use assets,

operating and finance lease liabilities, at fair value on a non-recurring basis only if they were determined to be

impaired. For equity investment without readily determinable fair values for which the Group elected to use the

measurement alternative, the equity investment is measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis when there is an

orderly transaction for identical or similar investments of the same issuer.

The Company

As of December 31, 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

186,581:

23,543

23,543:

- r-51 -

4,495
1,992

22,925
87,931

8,408
13,592

10,722
36,516

4,495
1,992

22,925
87,93r

8,408
13,592
23,543
10,722
36,516

210,t24:
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As of December 31, 2023

LeYel 1 LeYel 2 Level 3 Total

Corporate bonds .

Yankee bonds.

Term deposits and certificate of
deposits.

Total short-term investments at
fair value

Asset backed securities.
Commercial paper.
Corporate bonds. .

Treasurybill...
U.S. treasury securities
Yankee bonds.

Term deposits and certificate of
deposits

Total short-term investments at
fair value

Commercial paper. .

Corporate bonds .

Treasury bill . .

U.S. treasury securities
Sovereign government securities
Yankee bonds.
Term deposits and certificate of

deposits

Total short-term investments at
fair value

14,129
6,500

40,527

As of December 31, 2024

14,129
6,500

40,527

61,L56:61,156:

Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total

1,948

330

7,593
49,773

5,928

330

7,593
49,773

5,928
1,948
2,0092,009

6,344

T,n11,949

6,344

73,925

As of JUD€ 30, 2025

Level I Level 2 Level 3 Total

1,169
145,140
31,335

r,169
145,140

3r,335
9,819
1,324

5,683

6,344

200,814ry41ll,l43

-

9,819
1,324

5,683

6,344

- r-52 -
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7, PROPERTY, EQUIPMENTAND SOFTWARE, NET

Property, equipment and software as of December 31, 2022, 2O23 and 2024, and June 30, 2025, consist of the

following:

As of Dec€mber 31, As of June 30,

2022 2023 20252024

Computer and equipment
Vehicle and equipment
Leasehold improvements

Software.
Furniture and fixtures.
Finance lease right-of-use assets .

Total property, equipment and
software

Less: accumulated depreciation and

amoflization

Construction in progress

Property, equipment and software,
net .

30,585

22,639
6,263

1,191

s52
3,526

30,124
22,694

6,199
2,405

544
4,650

37,032
24,5'77

4,728
2,527

541

5,201

42,659
25,322

4,780
2,695

577
< J'J

64,756 66,616 74,606 81,255

(38,0s4) (sl,203) (59,948)

125 8,1 36

Total depreciation and amortization expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2025 were $3.2 million ($0.5

million relates to amortization of property and equipment acquired under finance leases), including $0.7 million in

the cost of revenues, $2.3 million in R&D expenses and $0.2 million in selling, general and administrative expenses,

respectively, on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive ioss. Total depreciation and

amortization expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024 werc $5.5 million (unaudited) ($0.8 million
(unaudited) relates to amortization of property and equipment acquired under finance leases), including $0.9 million
(unaudited) in cost of revenues, $4.2 million (unaudited) in R&D expenses, and $0.4 million (unaudited) in selling,

general and administrative expenses, respectively, on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive

loss. Total depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31,2024 were $9.8 million ($1.4

million relates to amortization ofproperty and equipment acquired under finance leases), including $1.8 million in

cost of revenues, $7.4 million in R&D expenses, and $0.6 million in selling, general and administrative expenses,

respectively, on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Total depreciation and

amortization expenses for the year ended December 31,2023 were $15.5 million ($1.2 million relates to amortization

ofproperty and equipment acquired under finance leases), including $2.0 million in cost ofrevenues, $12.5 million
in R&D expenses, and $1.0 million in selling, general and administrative expenses, respectively, on the consolidated

statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Total depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended

December 31, 2022 were $17.6 million ($0.8 million relates to amortization of property and equipment acquired

under finance leases), including $1.1 million in cost ofrevenues, $15.8 million in R&D expenses, and $0.7 million
in selling, general and administrative expenses, respectively, on the consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive loss.

2!43

q_26r)

597

L7,241
::::::::

L5,420:

7

26,827:

- r-53 -
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8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLEAND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

The Group

Accounts payable and other current liabilities as of December 31, 2022,2O23 and 2024, and June 30, 2025
consist of the following:

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2022 2024 202s2023

Payable related to employees'
exercise of share-based awards
(note a)

Payroll and related expenses

Payables and accrued expenses for
goods or services

Advance from long-term investments
disposal.

Contract liabilities.
Loans payable to potential investors

(note l2)
Tax payables

Warrants liability (note l2)
Finance lease liabilities (note 9) . - .

Amounts reimbursable to
employees

Welfare payable

Others .

Total. .

Payroll and related expenses

Payables and accrubd expenses for
goods or services

Warrants liability (note 12) . . . .

Others .

Total. .

15,587

10,048

4,92r

3,946
3,195

2,516
I,245

16,070

t3,75r

2,406

2,411
5,617
1,244

23,'.I41

25,665

8,347

3,229

1,812

40,730
t7,045

27,444

2,051

16,695

369532

741
292

2,437

107,804:

761
281

2,1 80

66,548

734
z7l

t;795

44,299:

549

269

1,766

44,042:

Note a: This is primarily due to employee stock sales, with funds collected on behalf of employees by the
Group, which has been distributed to such employees after withholding taxes are deducted.

The Company

Accounts payable and other current liabilities as ofDecember 31,2022,2023 and2024, and June 30,2025 consist
of the following:

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2022 2024 20252023

1,423

8,936:

1,492

5,617

1,328

8,437

1,882

2,516
749

5,147

t7

4,240

1,371

trr:

t7

7,496

- r-54 -
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9. LEASE

The Group leases office spaces and warehouses in several cities in the PRC and the U.S. under operating

leases, and logistics vehicles and containers in the PRC under finance leases. The Group determines if an arrangement

is a lease at inception, and when lease agreements contain lease and non-lease components, the Group accounts for

as separate components. The allocation of the consideration between the lease and the non-lease components is based

on the relative stand-alone prices oflease components included in the lease contracts. As ofJune 30,2025, the Group

did not have additional operating leases or finance leases that have not yet commenced.

Total operating lease expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and2025 were $2.1 million (unaudited)

and $2.9 million, respectively, which were recorded in cost of revenues, R&D expenses, and selling, general and

administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Total operating 
'lease

expenses for the years ended December 31,2022,2023 and2024 were $4.9 million, $4.3 million and $4'8 million,

respectively, which were recorded in cost of revenues, R&D expenses, and selling, general and administrative

expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Short-term lease cost for the six

months ended June 30, 2024 and 2025 was $0.7 million (unaudited) and $0.9 million, respectively. Short-term lease

cosr for the years ended December 31,2022,2023 and 2024 was $1.1 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million,

respectively.

Property and equipment acquired under finance leases was $1.3 million as ofJune 30,2025, recorded in

"Property, equipment and software, net", and corresponding current and non-current finance lease liabilities were

$0.4 million and $1.0 million, respectively, as of June 30,2025, recorded in "Accounts payable and other current

liabilities" and "Other non-current liabilities".

Total amortization expenses for the finance lease right-of-use assets and the interest expenses on the finance

lease liabilities were $0.5 million and $31 for the six months ended June 30,2025, and were $0.7 million (unaudited)

and $0.1 million (unaudited) for the six monlhs ended June 30,2024. Total amortization expenses for the finance

lease right-of-use assets and the interest expenses on the finance lease iiabilities were $0.8 million and $0.1 million

for the year ended December 31,2O22, were $1.2 million and $0.1 million for the year ended December3l,2023,
and were $1.4 million and $0.1 million for the year ended December 31,2024. Amortization expenses and interest

expenses were included in cost of revenues and other income (expenses), net on the consolidated statements of

operations and comprehensive loss, respectively.

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2022 2023 20252024

Operating leases

Right-of-use assets .

Lease liabilities, current.
Lease liabilities, non-current .

Finance leases

Right-of-use assets .

Lease liabilities, current (note 8)

Lease liabilities, non-current .

Cash paid for amounts included in
the measurement of lease

liabilities:
Operating cash used in operating

leases .

Operating cash used in finance
leases .

Financing cash used in finance
leases .

1,794
532

1.156

1,347

369
976

8,1 38

4,058
3,788

2,688
1,245

r,352

6,4r9
3,866
2,246

13,342

3,438
9,835

r 6,338

4,825
11,928

2,636
r,244
1,1 87

For lhe year ended December 31' Six months ended June 30,

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

(unaudited)

5,718

96

853

4,178

1,061

4,603

111

I,015

2,185

61

710

2,3r7

38

764

- I-55 -
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For the year end€d December 31, Six months ended June 30,

2022 2023 2024 2024 202s

( unoudited.)
Non-cash right-of-use assets in

exchange for
new lease liabilities:
Operating leases

Finance leases.

Weighted average remaining lease

term
Operating leases

Finance leases.

Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases

Finance leases.

1.5

3.2
4.5

3.9

1.2

3.4
4.5

3.8

5,336
2,597

2.2
2.7

3,424
1,183

11,377

618

5,5t0

4.3Vo

4.8Vo

4.6Vo

5.9Vo

5.LVo

5.0Vo

432

5.4Vo

4.8Vo

4.6Vo

5.7Vo

Maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows for operating lease and finance lease liabilities as of
December 31,2022 is as follows:

Year endlng
December 31,

Maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows for operating lease and finance lease liabilities as of
December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Year endlng
December 31,

Total

5,821
4,382

716
73

JJ

75

-Ss1)
10,443

5,917
2,OOl
I,019

286
195

42

s!
ts41

- I-56 -
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Maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows for operating lease and finance lease liabilities as of

December 31,2024 is as follows:

Year ending
December 31,

Total

Maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows for operating lease and finance lease liabilities as of

June 30, 2025 is as follows:

Year endltrg
December 31,

2031 and thereafter

Less: imputed interest

Total. .

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal proceedings

From time to time, the Group may become involved in litigation, claims, and proceedings. The Group evaluates

the status of each legal matter and assesses the potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any legal

proceedings or litigation is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, the Group accrues a

liability for the estimated loss. Significant judgment is required to determine the probability of a loss and whether

the amount of the loss is reasonably estimated. As of December 31,2022,2023 and 2024, and June 30, 2025, based

on the currently available information, the Group believes that the loss contingencies that may arise as a result of

currently pending legal proceedings are not reasonably possible to have a material adverse effect on the Group's

business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

Investment commitments

In August 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with Toyota Motor (China) Investment Co., Ltd. and

GAC Toyota Motor Co., Ltd. to establish a joint venture and jointly advance the future mass production and

large-scale deployment of fully driverless vehicles. As of June 30, 2025, the Group had a future investment

commirment of $51.5 rnillion (equivalent to RM8369.0 million) in cash payable before September 30, 2025. This

amount was settled on September 25,2025.

4,610
4,060
3,082
2,521
2,181

6t

IlJ54)
14,961

2,99r
5,505

4,438
3,094
1'114

270

74'7

(1,7 19)

18,098

-

-r-57 -
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1I,. ORDINARY SHARES

The Company was incorporated on November 4, 2016 with an authorized share capital of 388,594,477 ordinary
shares at the par value of $0.0005 each. A summary of the Class A and Class B ordinary shares as of December 31,
2022,2023 and 2O24, and June 30,2025, is as follows:

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2023 20242022 202s

Class A Ordinary Shares
Sharesauthorized . . . . . . . . .

Par value
Shares issued and outstanding
Class B Ordinary Shares
Shares authorized . . . . . . . . .

Par value
Shares issued and outstanding

30'7,505,707

$ 0.000s
10,708,762

81,088,770

$ 0.0005
8L,088,770

307,505,707
0.0005

L0,660,389

81 ,088,770
0.0005

81,088,770

498,911,230

$ 0.0005
269,203,783

$

81,088,770
0.0005

81.,088,770

$

498,911,230
0.0005

304,203,783

8 r,088,770

$ 0.000s
81,088,770

$

$

The holders of Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares shall, at all times, vote together as one class
on all matters submitted to a vote. The holder of each Class A ordinary share shall have the right to one vote with
respect to such Class A ordinary share, and the holder of each Class B ordinary share shall have the right to l0 votes
with respect to such Class B ordinary share.

Each Class B ordinary share is convertible into one Class A ordinary share at any time by the holder thereof.
In no event shall Class A ordinary shares be convertible into Class B ordinary shares. With respect to any Class B
ordinary share upon (a) the death of the stockholder (or its ultimate controlling beneficial owner that is a natural
person or any beneficial owner that is a principal) of such Class B ordinary share; (b) any sale, transfer, assignment,
or disposition of such Class B ordinary share by a stockholder (or its affiliate) to any person who is nor an affiliate
of such stockholder; (c) a change of ultimate beneficial ownership of such Class B ordinary share to any person who
is not an affiliate of the registered stockholder of such Class B ordinary share; or (d) termination of employment of
any principal who is the ultimate beneficial owner holding such Class B ordinary share with the Group, such Class
B ordinary share shall be automatically and immediately converted into one Class A ordinary share.

In November 2024, the Group completed its IPO on Nasdaq. In the offering, 20,000,000 American Depository
Shares ("ADSs"), representing 20,000,000 Class A ordinary shares, were issued and sold to the public at a price of
$13.00 per ADS. In addition, the Group issued and sold an additional 1,461,4L0 ADSs, upon the underwriters'
exercise of their option to purchase additional ADSs, representing 1,461,410 Class A ordinary shares. The Group
received total net proceeds of approximately $256.7 million after deducting relevant offering expenses.

Meanwhile, immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, the Group sold and issued 11,672,186 Class A
ordinary shares in the CPP to certain investors based on the IPO price of$13.00 perADS. The Group received a total
of approximately $151.7 million of net proceeds after deducting relevant offering expenses.

In addition, upon the completion of the IPO, all of the 202,699,487 Preferred Shares held by the Group's
preferred shareholders were converted into 225,409,798 Class A ordinary shares with conversion ratio of 1:1 for
Series A, Series B, Series B+, Series 82 and Series C, with conversion ratio of 1:1.4439 for Series C+, and with
conversion ratio of l:2.3377 for Series D, which resulted in a decrease of $1,695.3 million in Mezzanine equity and
an increase of $0.1 million and an increase of $1,695.2 million recorded in paid-in capital of Class A ordinary shares
and additional paid-in capital, respectively.

12, CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED SHARES

The following table summarizes the movement of each series of preferred shares ("Preferred Shares") issued
by the Company:

Total Number of Original Issue Carrying Amount as
Price per Share of December 3t,2022Date of Issuance Shares Outstanding

Series A(l)
Series B(2)

201713t3
2017n2t28

34,717 ,760
44,758,365

- I-58 -
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Dat€ of Issuance
Totrl Numher of

Shares Outsianding
Original Issu€

Prlce p€r Share
Carrying Amount as
of Decenber 31, 2022

Series B+(3)

Series B2 .

Series C(a)

Series C+ .

Series D(s)

Total

20t816t27, 2019111122
2019t4n1
2020t3n3, 202u6122
2020n1t16, 202llll13
2022t2t23, 2022t3t4,
2022n2t29, 20231813,
2023t8n5, 20231rul5

Date of Issuance

27,428,047
10,478,885
57,896,414
16,161,021
7,453,371

198,893,863

Total Number of
Shares Outstanding

Orlglnal Issue
Price per Share

107,r35
68, r 38

559,087
249,884
181 ,595

Carrying Amount as
of December 31, 2023

3.6673
6.5196
9.4220

15.4687
25.0446

l25r,ty,:

Series A(r)
Series B(2)

Series B+(3)

Series 82 .

Series C(a)

Series C+ .

Series D(s)

34,362,468
44,758,365
27,428,047
I 0,478,885
57,896,414
16,161,02r
11,614,287

0.4323
1.7319
3.6673
6.5196
9.4220

15.468'7

25.0446

r4,664
76,840

107,135
68, r 38

559,087
249,884
285,530

20t71313
2017n2t28
2018t6t27, 201911U22
2019t4nr
2020t3n3, 202u6t22
2020ltll16, 202ll1l13
2022t2t23, 20221314,

2022n2t29, 20231813,
2023t8t15, 2023nU15

Total

Series A(l) .

Series B(2) .

Series B+(3)

Series 82
Series C(a)

Series C+

Series D(5)

Total

Date of Issuance

Total
Number of

Shar€s
Outstanding

Origlnal
Issue Price
per Share

202,699,487

Accretionof Modification
Preferred of Preferred
Shares(3) Shares(a)

Conv€rsion
of Preferred

Shares(5)

$6L2n:

of
31,

Carrying
Amount as

2024
Dec€mber

z0t7 t3t3

2017 n2t28
2018t6t27,
2019t1u22
20t9t4ttt
2020t3t13, 202116122

2020tlu16,
2021t1t13
2022t2t23, 20221314,

2022t12t29, 20231813,

2023t8115,

2023t11,t15

0.4323

|.7319
3.6673

693

4,1 80

5,423

6.5196

9.4220

15.4687

3,684

29,412

13,479

34,362,468

44,758,365

27,428,047

10,478,885

57,896,414

16,161,021

(15,357)

(81,020)

(l 1 2,ss8)

r,614,287 25.0446 15,683

t19,430

142,042

(71,822)
(s88,499)

(382,7e3)

(443,zss)

,r,* ,61,4n tr"ex"roci -,0r,6rr,4s7

-
(1) In March 2023,the Group entered into a share purchase agreement with IWAY LLC, a company wholly

owned by Dr. Tiancheng Lou, to repurchase 355,292 Series A Preferred Shares of the Group at fair value
of $4.8 million. Upon the completion of this transaction, all of the shares repurchased were cancelled.
The repurchase of Preferred Shares is accounted for under the cost method whereby the entire cost of
the acquired Series A Preferred Shares is recorded as reduction of Series A Preferred Shares under
mezzanine equity and additional paid-in capital. The additional paid-in capital is recorded as the excess

of proceeds over the original issuance price of these Series A Preferred Shares. The repurchase resulted
in a reduction of mezzanine equity by $0.2 million, and a reduction of additional paid-in capital by $4.6
million.

(2) Including L99,644 and 168,039 Series D Preferred Shares issued in Decemtrer 2022 and August 2023

upon the exercise of warrants as discussed in Note 12 convertible redeemable Preferred Shares -
Accounting of Preferred Shares, and newly issued of 3,992,877 Series D Preferred Shares to an investor

in November 2023.

(3) Refer to Note 12 convertible redeemable Preferred Shares - Accounting of Preferred Shares.
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(4) Refer to Note 12 convertible redeemable Preferred Shares - Modification of Prefened Shares.

(5) Upon the completion of IPO in 2024, all the Preferred Shares converted into ordinary shares of the
Company. Refer to Note 11.

The key terms of the Preferred Shares are as follows

Conversion right

The Preferred Shares are convertible at any time, at the option of the holders, into Class A ordinary shares at
the applicable conversion ratio by dividing the original issuance price by the conversion price, as adjusted. Each share
of Preferred Shares automatically converts into Class A ordinary share upon the earlier of (i) the closing of a QIPO
or (ii) the date specified by written consent or agreement of a majority of the holders of each series of Preferred
Shares, A QIPO means a firm commitment underwritten public offering of the ordinary shares of the Group in the
U.S. (or another jurisdiction) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, that values the Group at $4.0 billion or more and that results in gross proceeds to the Group of at least
$200.0 million, based on the amendment of Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Group in September
2024.

Redemption right

Based on the amendment of Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company in September 2024, all
Preferred Shares were redeemable at any time and from time to time on or after the earlier date of the occurrence
of (i) a QIPO has occurred prior to December 28,2027; (ii) the unilateral termination of either the chief executive
officer or the chief technology officer of his employment before December 28, 2024 and occurrence of a QIPO; or
(iii) breaches by the Company that have not been cured, upon receipt of a written request from any holder of the
then-outstanding Preferred Shares, the Company shall redeem all, or part, of the outstanding Preferred Shares.

The redemption price of Series A Preferred Shares shall be one hundred percent (100Vo) of the issue price of
Series A Preferred Shares plus interest calculated at a five percent (5Vo) compound interest rate. The redemption price
of Series B, B+,82, C, C+, D Preferred Shares shall be one hundred percent (1007o) of the issue price of Preferred
Shares plus interest calculated at an eight percent (87o) simple interest rate.

Voting rights

The holders of the Preferred Shares are entitled to vote on all matters and are entitled to the number of vores
equal to the number of Class A ordinary shares into which each share of the Preferred Shares is then convertible.

Dividend rights

Each holder of the Preferred Shares is entitled to receive noncumulative dividends at a simple rate of 8Vo of
the Preferred Shares issue price per annum when, as, and if declared by the Board, prior and in preference to any
dividend on the ordinary shares. Any remaining dividends shall be paid to the holders of the Preferred Shares and
the ordinary shares on an as-converted basis. To date, the Board has not declared any such dividends.

Liquidation rights

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Group, whether voluntary or involuntary, all
assets and funds of the Group shall be distributed to the shareholders in the following manner and order:

Each holder of the Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution to
the holders of any previous Preferred Shares and ordinary shares, the amount equal to the greater of (i) an amount
equal to 150Vo of the Preferred Shares issue price, plus all declared but unpaid dividends or (ii) the pro rata share
of all the liquidation proceeds calculated based on an as-converted basis as if all of the Preferred Shares converted
into ordinary shares immediately prior to such liquidation. After distributing in full the liquidation preference amount
to all the holders of the Preferred Shares, the remaining funds, if any, shall be distributed to the holders of the
ordinary shares.
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Accounting of Preferred Shares

The Group classified the Preferred Shares in lhe mezzanine equity on the consolidated balance sheets as they

are contingently redeemable at the options of the holders. Each issuance of the Preferred Shares is recorded at the

respective fair vaiue at the date of issuance net of issuance costs. The issuance costs for Series A, Series B, Series

B+, Series 82, Series C, Series C+ and Series D Preferred Shares were $0.2 million, $0.4 million, $0.4 million, $0.2

million, $2.0 million, $0.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively. The Group determined that there was no beneficial

conversion feature attributable to the Preferred Shares because the initial effective convetsion prices of these

Preferred Shares were higher than the fair value of the Group's ordinary shares determined by the Group taking into

account of independent valuations.

. The Group records accretion on the Preferred Shares to the redemption value from the date that it becomes

probable that the instrument will become redeemable to the earliest redemption dates, The accretion calculates using

the effective interest method, is recorded against retained earnings, or in the absence of retained earnings, by charging

against additional paid-in capital. Once additional paid-in capital has been exhausted, additional charges are recorded

by increasing rhe accumulated deficit. Before 2024, redemption is not considered probable.

Modification of Preferred Shares

In September 2024, the Group held an Extraordinary General Meeting to approve the eighth amended and

restated Memorandum and Articles of Association, through which the Group modified terms of the outstanding

Preferred Shares as follow:

revising the minimum QIPO valuation from $8.5 billion to $4.0 billion, and minimum QIPO gross

proceeds from $425.0 million to $200.0 million;

extending the QIPO date provided in the terms on Preferred Shares redemption rights from prior to

December 28,2024 to prior to December 28,2O27;

revising initial conversion price of Series C+ and Series D Preferred Shares from the Series C+'s and

Series D's issuance price to $10.7134 per share, which impacted all shareholders in both series.

The Group evaluated the nature of modification by applying the fair value approach, and concluded that the

impact of the modification on the existing Series A, Series B, Series B+, Series 82 and Series C Preferred Shares,

respectively, was not significant quantitatively, and therefore should be accounted for as modification, rather than

extinguishment. As the modification resulted in decreases in the fair value of existing Series A, Series B, Series B+,

Series 82 and Series C Preferred Shares, the changes in fair value were not recognized. The Group further concluded

that the impact of the modification on the existing Series C+ and Series D Preferred Shares, respectively, was

significant both qualitatively and quantitatively, and should be accounted for as extinguishment of the Preferred

Shares - 
i.e., a redemption of the existing instruments and issuance of "new" instruments. The difference of $261.5

million between the fair value of the modified Series C+ and Series D Preferred Shares (new instruments) and the

carrying value of the existing Series C+ and Series D Preferred Shares (old instruments) was recognized as a deemed

dividend, within accumulated deficit. Because the modifications involved the entire class of sharehoiders for Series

C+ and Series D, respectively, the Group concluded the incremental fair value is a dividend (a pro rata distribution)'

Warrants issued to would-be investors

The freestanding warrants to purchase the Preferred Shares at a future date were determined to be freestanding

instruments that were accounted for as liabilities. At initial recognition, the Group recorded the warrants liability on

the consolidated balance sheets at their estimated fair value and changes in estimated fair values were included in

the changes in fair value of warrants liability on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

The warrants liability is subject to remeasurement at each reporting period and the Group adjusted the carrying value

of the warrants liability to fair value at the end of each reporting period utilizing an option-pricing model, with

changes in estimated fair value of warrants liability disclosed on the consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive 1oss.

Series D Wanants

The Group made Series D financing in March 2022, and three PRC onshore investment funds expressed intent

to invest in Series D Prefened Shares. However, the PRC onshore investment funds were required to obtain Outbound

Direct Investment ("ODI") approvals from relevant PRC government authorities and complete foreign currency
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exchange procedures before conducting an outbound direct investment pursuant to the PRC laws. To facilitate the
PRC onshore investment funds to invest in Series D Preferred Shares with the same preference and rights as other
offshore investment funds, a series of agreements were entered into by the Group and the PRC onshore investment
funds.

In March 2022, as below, the Group entered into the loan agreements with the PRC onshore investment funds
to borrow loans at the amount of RMB equivalent of $3.9 million. The Group also entered into warrants purchase
agreements with the PRC onshore investment funds, which entitle the PRC onshore investment funds to purchase
173,024 Series D Preferred Shares at Series D's issuance price of $25.0446 per share. Such Prefered Shares shall
be issuable upon the exercise of the warrants once the investor obtained the government approval and completed the
exchange procedures for the ODI. The warrants are classified as a liability and recorded at fair value with changes
in fair value recorded on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The proceeds are first
allocated to the warrants based on their fair value as a loan discount, with residual being allocated to the loans, which
are recorded in accounts payable and other current liabilities. The loan discount is amortized over the contractual life
of the loan, using the straight-line method. In August 2023, ceftain warrants were exercised to purchase 168,039
Series D Preferred Shares at $25.0446 per share with total consideration of $4.2 million in cash, included in line item
of net proceeds from issuance of Series D Preferred Shares on the consolidated statements of cash flows. The Group
and investor also agreed to terminate 4,985 unexercised warrants. Meanwhile, the Group fully repaid the loans
associated with the issuance of the warrants.

The Group also granted warrant to a PRC onshore investment fund with no consideration, which is also a
holder of Class A ordinary shares and Preferred Shares, to purchase 199,644 Series D Preferred Shares at Series D's
issuance price of $25.0446 per share. The warrant valued at $828 granted is considered as a deemed dividend to the
holder of Series A Preferred Shares. In December 2022, the holder exercised the warrant to purchase 199,644 shares
of Series D Preferred Shares with the total consideration of $5.0 million in cash.

In March 2022, the Group also entered into share and warrant purchase agreements with an investment fund,
under which the investment fund shall have the right to purchase 998,219 Series D Preferred Shares at Series D's
issuance price of $25.0446 per share, with an aggregate exercise price of $25,0 million. The warrant is classified as
a liability and recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded on the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss. The proceeds are first allocated to the warrant based on its fair value, with residual being
allocated to the carrying amounts of Series D Preferred Shares. The warrant was expired on March 4, 2024 and. rhe
balance is nil as of December 31,2024 and June 30,2025.

13. SHARE.BASED COMPENSATION

(a) Description of the share incentive plan

Share-based awards include share options related to Class A ordinary shares granted to employees, RSUs for
Class A ordinary shares granted to employees, and restricted stock awards ("RSAs") for Class B ordinary shares
granted to two founders, under the share incentive plan since the inception of the company.

In November 2016, the Company adopted the Pony AI Inc. 2016 Share Plan (the "Plan") pursuant to which
the Board may grant share-based awards as an incentive. After several share splits and amendments, the number of
ordinary shares reserved for issuance under the Plan has been updated to 58,427,257 ordinary shares since January
2020.

Share options generally have a 10-year contractual term and vest over a four-year period starling from the date
specified in each agreement. The share options will vest in accordance with the vesting schedules set out in the
respective share award agreements with vesting period ranging from 2 to 5 years. In addition to the above service
condition, certain share options and RSUs also include performance vesting condition which is contingent on the
completion of an IPO or a sale event.
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In November 2022, the Company amended the terms ot 1,429,0O0 RSUs and 140,000 share options by

eliminating the performance condition that requires the RSUs be vested and the share options be exercised until the

completion of the Company's an IPO or a sale event, respectively. In accordance with ASC 718, "Compensation 
-

Stock Compensation", the modification is an improbable-to-probable ('fype III) modification as an IPO or a sale

event is a performance condition that the Company anticipates will not be satisfied until occuffence. The Company

remeasured the fair value of the modified RSUs and share options on the modification date and recorded the

compensation expenses for the modified awards over the remaining requisite service period.

On March 24,2022, the Board ofthe Company approved a share buyback plan (the "Buyback Plan"). Pursuant

to the Buyback Plan, the Company plans to repurchase certain issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares of the

Company and/or settle certain share options and the RSUs granted under the Plan, at a per share purchase price of

$11.57 (or for the share options, a settlement price at $11.57 minus exercise price as applicable, collectively the

"Repurchase/Settlement Price") and for the aggregate purchase not exceed $ 1 0.0 million, from employees who joined

the Company or its subsidiaries before April 30, 2018 and/or senior engineers and platform leaders who joined the

Company or its subsidiaries no later than December 31,2018 (the "Eligible Employees").

Under the Buyback Plan, in December, 2022, rhe Company agreed to buy back from certain Eligible
Employees all or a portion oftheir RSUs and share options, including 283,391 RSUs and 192,324 share options. Since

all settled share awards are with performance vesting condition which is contingent on the completion of an IPO or

a sale event, such awards were not considered probable of vesting when issued and prior to the settlement date.

Accordingly, no expense was recorded prior to the settlement date. Upon settlement in December 2022, the entire

settlement price of $5.4 million was deemed cash compensation paid to the holders of the RSUs and share options,

and charged to compensation expenses included in R&D and selling, general and administrative expenses on the

consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

In addition, inApril 2O23,the Company agreed to buy back from certain Eligible Employees all or a portion

of their RSUs and share options, including 232,608 RSUs and 75,275 sharc options, respectively. For awards vested

before the settlement date, the Company paid cash $3.1 million to settle the vested awards and recorded a reduction

to additional paid-in capital of $3.1 million. For certain awards with performance vesting condition which is

contingent on the completion of an IPO or a sale event, such awards were not considered probable of vesting when

issued and prior to the settlement date. Accordingly, no expense was recorded prior to the settlement date. Upon

settlement in April 2023, the entire settlement price of $0.5 million was deemed cash compensation paid to the

holders of the RSUs and share options, and charged to compensation expenses included in R&D and selling, general

and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 1oss.

In March 2O23 and 2024, the Company and certain optionees reached an agreement to exchange their share

options with RSUs, at the fixed fair value basis ofthese share options on the exchange date. As a result, 3,028,913

RSUs and 2,195,928 RSUs were newly granted for the exchange of 3,104,234 and 2,223,175 share options,

respectively. As the terms and the fair value of the awards are identical before and after the exchange, there is no

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

For the six months ended June 30, 2025, a total of 852,684 RSUs were withheld by the Company as a result

of net share settlements to satisfy certain employees'income tax obligations. The Company paid $11.6 million (equal

to the fair value of these RSUs on the settlement dates) to settle the employees' tax obligations related to the RSUs

withheld, which is charged directly to the additional paid-in capital. These net share settlements had the effect of
share repurchases by the Company as they reduced the number of shares that would have otherwise been issued as

a result of the vesting.

(b) Share option activities

A summary ofthe Company's share option activities for the years ended December 31,2022,2023 and2024,
and the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2O25 arc as follows:

Number of Share Weight€d Average
Exercise Price

Weighted Average Aggregate
Remaining Life Intrinsic ValueOptions

Outstanding as of January 1,2022
Exercised
Settlement.
Forfeited or expired.

Outstanding as of December 31,

2022.. .

15,551,552
(73,s41)

(192,324)
(430,642)

14,855,045

0.52
0.72
0.36
2.00

(in YeaN)

6.L7 188,043
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Number of Share
Options

Weighted Average W€ighted Ayerage Aggregate
Exercise Price Remaining Life IntrinsiCvalue

Settlement.
Forfeited or expired.
Exchanged for RSUs

Outstanding as of December 31,
2023. . .

Forfeited or expired.
Exchanged for RSUs

Outstanding as of December 31,
2024.. .

Exercisable as of December 31,
2022. . .

Exercisable as of December 31,
2023.. .

Exercisable as of December 31,
2024. . .

Outstanding as of December 31,
2023...

Forfeited or expired.
Exchanged for RSUs

Outstanding as of June 30,2024
(unaudited).

Exercisable as of June 30,2024
(unaudited).

Outstanding as of December 31,
2024. . .

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired.

Outstanding as of June 30,2025

Exercisable as of June 30,2025

(7s,275)
(622,640)

(3,r04,234)

1L,052,E96

(s6,0s2)
(2,223,175)

9,773,669

934,L43

603,559

Number of Share
Optlons

0.s3

0.9L

0.84

0.53

Weighted Average
Ex€rclse Price

(in Years)

4.14

3.33

6.42

5.27

3.33

Weighted Average
Remaining Life

161,965

121,224

11,763

8,62L

0.68
1.35
0.34

0.60
0.19

o.47

121,200

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

8,771,536

-
(in Years)

11,052,896

(47,272')

(2,223,r75)

9,792,449

0.47 4.r4 16'.,965

0.46
0.19

3.84 135,678

640,601 0.89 4.85 9,67O

3.33 t21,224

The weighted average grant date fair value of share options vested during the years ended December 31,2022,
2023 and2024, and the six months ended June 30,2024 and2025, was $6.20, $4.92,51.67, $1.78 (unaudited) and
$2.33, respectively. The total grant date fair value ofthe share options vested for the years ended December 31,2022,
2023 and'2024, and the six months ended June 30,2024 and2O25, was $2.4 million, $0.3 million, $13.7 million, $70
(unaudited) and $5, respectively.

Cash received from exercise of share option under the Plan for the years ended Decemb er 37 , 2022, 2O23 and
2024, and' the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2O25, was $52.8, nil, nil, nil (unaudited) and $1.68 million,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, there were 13,68L,443 share options and 1O,439,796 share options of
which the vesting or exercisability is conditioned on the occurence of an IPO or a sale event, respectively. The IPO
was completed in November 2O24, and the share options whose service conditions had been met became vested. The
remaining share options will be vested as their service conditions are met over time.

0.53

35,621

34,796:

3.77

3.55:

0.s3

5.60
0.36
1.76

1.05

0.89::

9,773,669

100,915

(s,924,873)
(16,798)

2,932,913

2,83l,ggg
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(c) RSUs and RSAs activities

A summary of the Company's RSUs and RSAs activities for the years ended December 31,2022,2023,2024
and the six months ended June 30,2024 and2025 are as follows:

Number of RSUs
W€ighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested as of January l,2022 . .

Granted

Vested .

Settlement.
Forfeited

Unvested as of December 31,2022

Granted
Vested .

Settlement.
Forfeited
Exchanged from share options

Unvested as of December 31,2023

Granted
Vested .

Settlement.
Forfeited
Exchanged from share options . .

Unvested as of Decembet 31,2O24

Unvested as of December 31,2023 . . . . .

Granted
Vested .

Forfeited
Exchanged from share options

Unvested as of June 30,2024 (unaudited)

Unvested as of December 31,2024. . . . .

Granted
Vested .

Forfeited

Unvested as of June 30,2025

Unvested as of January 1,2022 . . . .

Vested .

Unvested as of December 31,2022 . .

Vested .

Unvested as of December 31,2023 . -

Vested .

Unvested as of December 37,2024 and

June 30, 2024 (unaudited) and 2O25

t7,590,164
2,485,550
(800,107)
(283,391)

(1,587,795)

17,404,421

3,383,000
(329,rse)
(41,400)

(946,891)

3,028,913

22,498,8E4

4,t54,357
(2r,425,708)

(2ss,235)
2,195,928

4,60
12.96

13.18

0.29

12.44

5.13

5.45

14.08

8.55

o.29

12.54

0.19

13.19

3.65

13.75

0.10

7,169,226 13.38

Number of RSUs
W€ighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value

Number of RSAS
Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value

8,437,500 0.07

(3,750,000) 0.07

4,687,500 0.07

(3,7s0,000) 0.07

937,500 0.07

0.07

22,498,8E4

1,33r,842
(100,777)
(112,686')

2,195,928

25,8L3,191

7,r6E,226
3,291,586

(1,323,882)
(27s,028)

g,g6o,go2

5.45

15.8 I
13.21

13.1 8

0.10

5.47

r.3.38

5.30
14.03

11.60

10.34:
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As ofDecember 31,2O22,2023 and2024, and June 30, 2025, the weighted average remaining conrractual life
ofoutstanding RSUs were 6.47 yearc,5.68 years,5.15 years and 9.11 years, respectively. As ofDecember 31,2022,
2023 and 2024, and June 30, 2025, rherc were 3,813,440, 3,913,891, 25,339,599 and 30,547 RSUs rhar have been
vested but not settled, respectively.

(d) Valuation

The Company estimates the fair value of the share options on the grant date using the Black-scholes
option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires estimates of highly subjective assumptions,
which greatly affect the fair value of each share option.

The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the share options with modifications for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, and the six months ended June 30, 2024 and,2025, are as follows:

Y€er €nded December 31, Six months ended June 30,

Share Option Value Assumplions 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

(unaudiled)

Expected term (in years)

Expected volatility. . .

Risk-fiee interest rate

Expected dividend yield

1.08

55.81V0-56.38V0

3;17V0-3.8lVo

0.00v0

0.75-1.00

55.9270-56.26V0

3.60V0-3.97V0

0.00V0

Expected Term - The expected term represents the period that the share-based awards are expected to be
outstanding.

Expected Volatility - Before the Company's IPO, the expected volatility is based on rhe historical and implied
volatility of similar companies whose share or share option prices are publicly available after considering the
industry, stage of life cycle, size, market capitalization, and financial leverage of the other companies. Since the
Company's IPO in November 2024, the expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of market price of the
Company's public traded shares.

Risk-Free Interest Rate 
- The risk-free interest rate used is the constant maturity U.S. Treasury rate

corresponding to the applicable time to liquidity.

Expected Dividend Yielil 
-The 

expected dividend assumption is based on the Company's current expectations
about its anticipated dividend policy after considering the Company's dividend-paying capacity, its history ofpaying
dividends, and the amount of its prior dividends.

For the years ended December 31,2O22,2023,2024 and the six months ended June 30, 2O24 and 2O25, the
share-based compensation expenses were $18.6 million, $3.8 million, $127.0 million, $1.5 million (unaudited) and
$16.2 million, respectively, of which $13.4 million, $1.9 million, $102.4 million, $0.6 million (unaudired) and $11.9
million, respectively, were included in R&D expenses and $5.2 million, $1,9 million, $24.6 million and $0.9 million
(unaudited) and $4.3 million, respectively, were included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Of such amounts, $0.3 million, $0.3 million, $0.1
million, $0.1 million (unaudited) and nil for the years ended December 31,2022,2023,2024 and the six months
ended June 30,2024 and 2025, respectively, relate to granted RSAs.

As of June 30,2025, the unrecognized share-based compensation expenses related to outstanding unvested
share options and RSUs for employees that are expected to vest were approximately $32 and $59.6 million,
respectively. The unrecognized share-based compensation expenses are expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 2.0 years and 3.1 years for share options and RSUs, respectively.

As ofJune 30,2025, the unrecognized share-based compensation expenses related to the granted RSAs were

There were no share options granted to non-employees for the years ended December 31,2022,2023,2024
and the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2025.

nil.
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14. TAXATION

The Group is registered in the Cayman Islands and mainly operates in two taxable jurisdictions 
- the PRC

and the U.S. The Group's loss before income tax for the years ended December31,2022,2023,2024 and the six

months ended June 30, 2024 and 2025, is as follows:

Year ended December 31, Six monlhs ended Jun€ 30,

2023 2025

(uneudited)

2r2420242022

Loss from the PRC operations.

Loss from non-PRC operations
Loss before income tax
Income tax (expenses) benefits

applicable to the PRC

operations
Income tax benefits (expenses)

applicable to non-PRC
operations

Total income tax benefits
(expenses)

(90,586)
(s7,738)

(148,324)

(8 l ,953)
(43,s0r)

(125,454)

(r70,2s9)
(104,746)
(275,005)

(46,693)
(5,080)

(sl,773)

(63,963)
(26,676)
(90,639)

(t2s) 124 (1)

199 (l) (t)

Cayman Island Tax

Under the current tax laws of the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to tax on its income or capital gains.

In addition, payments of dividends and capital in respect of its shares are not subject to taxation and no withholding

will be required in the Cayman Islands on the payment of any dividend or capital to any holder of its shares, nor will
gains derived from the disposal of its shares be subject to the Cayman Islands income or corporation tax.

U,S. Corporate Income Tax ("CIT")

The Group's subsidiary incorporated in the U.S. is subject to income tax in the U.S. at the rule of 2lEo for the

years ended December 31,2022,2023,2024 and the six months ended June 30,2024 and2O25.

Hong Kong Tax

Under the cuilent Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance, from the year of assessmenl2}lSl20l9 onwards, the

subsidiary in Hong Kong are subject to profit tax at the rate of 8.25Vo on assessable profits up to HK$2.0 million;

and l6.5fto on any part of assessable profits over HK$2.0 million. The payments of dividends by the Group to its

shareholders are not subject to any Hong Kong withholding tax'

PRC CIT

The Group's subsidiaries, the VIEs and the VIEs'subsidiaries, which are entities incorporated in the PRC (the

"PRC entities") are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax on the taxable income in accordance with the relevant

PRC income tax laws, which have adopted a unified income tax late of25Vo, except for High and New Technology

Enterprises ("HNTE"), which are subject to a l5%o tax rate. For Small Low- profit Enterprises, the portion of less

than RMBl.0 million and the portion of more than RMB1.0 million but less than RMB3.0 million of the annual

taxable income, will be included in the actual taxable income aI l2.5%o and 25Vo, respectively, based on which the

enterprise income tax payable will be calculated at the reduced tax rule of 20Eo for the year ended Decembet 31, 2O22.

Based on newly issued and effective relevant PRC income tax regulation in2023, for Small Low-profit Enterprises,

the portion of less than RMB3.0 million of the annual taxable income, will be included in the actual taxable income

aI257o, based on which the enterprise income tax payable will be calculated at the reduced tax rate of 20Vo for the

years ended December 31,2023 and2024 and for the six months ended June 30,2024 and2025.

(2)2

(1):(2)(1)

-

L26:74:
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Under preferential tax treatment, HNTEs can enjoy an income tax rate of l5%o,bttt need to re-apply every three
years. During this three-year period, an HNTE must conduct a qualification self-review each year to ensure it meets
the HNTE criteria and is eligible for lhe l5%o preferential tax rate for that year. If an HNTE fails to meet the criteria
for qualification as an HNTE in any year, the enterprise cannot enjoy the l5%o preferential tax rate in that year, and
must instead use the regular 25Vo Clt rate.

' Beijing HX was qualified as HNTE in202l, and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate ar l5%o for
2021 , 2022 and 2023. Beijing HX renewed HNTE in 2024, and is entitled to a preferential income tax
rate at l5%o for 2024,2025 and 2026.

Beijing ZX was qualified as HNTE in2027, and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate at l|Vo for
2021,2022 and 2023. Beijing ZX renewed HNTE in 2024, and is entitled to a preferential income tax
raie at l5Vo for 2024,2025 and,2026.

Beijing YX was qualified as HNTE in2022, and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate at l5Vo for
2022, 2023 and 2024, the company will continue to utilize the preferential income tax.

Guangzhou HX was qualified as HNTE in 2020, and is entitled to a preferential income tax lzrte of l5%o
for 2020, 2021 and 2022. Guangzhou HX renewed HNTE in 2023, and is entitled to a preferential.
income tax rarc of l1%o for 2023,2024 and 2025.

Shenzhen YX was qualified as HNTE in2022, and is entitled to a preferential income taxrate of l5%o
for 2022, 2023 and 2024, and the company anticipates that upon renewal in 2O25, the company will
continue to utilize the preferential income tax.

Jiangsu RD was qualified as HNTE in202I, and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of l5%o for
2021,2022 and 2023. Jiangsu RD renewed HNTE in 2024, and is entitled to a preferential income tax
rute at l5vo for 2O24,2025 and,2026.

Shanghai YX was qualified as HNTE in 2023, and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 75Vo
for 2023,2O24 and 2025.

Guangzhou ZX was qualified as HNTE in 2024, and is entitled to a preferential income Lax r:Lte of lSEo
for 2024, 2025 and. 2026.

Composition of Income Tax Expenses

For the years ended December 37,2022,2023,2024 and the six months ended June 30, 2024 a11d 2025, the
Group's income tax expenses are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,

2022 2024 202s

(unaudited)

2n242023

Deferred tax (expenses) benefits
applicable to the PRC
operations

Deferred tax benefits applicable
to non-PRC operations .

Total deferred tax benefits . . .

Current income tax (expenses)

benefits applicable to the PRC
operations.

Current income tax (expenses)

benefits applicable to non-
PRC operations

Total current income tax
(expenses) benefits

Total income tax benefits
(expenses)

596

476

(1)

=

(2)

(1)

=

)

6

12674:

(120)

(s)

(3e7)

(402)

120

120

4 (l)

(1)

I
(2):

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate

The following table sets forth reconciliation between the PRC statutory income tax rate and the effective tax

rate:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30'

2022 2023 202520242024

Statutory CIT rate

Effect on tax holiday and

preferential tax treatment

Effect of research and

development super-deduction

Other permanent adjustments

Change in valuation allowance

Tax rate difference from
statutory rate in other
jurisdictions

Effective tax rate for the
Group.

25.OVo 25.OVo 25.O7o

(4.Z)Vo (3.8)Vo (5.5)Vo

ll.$Vo
(7.O)Vo

(16.7)Eo

0.0Vo

12.9Vo

(0.5)Vo

(32.z)Vo

0.lvo

5.\Vo
(5.1)Vo

(19.2)Vo

(unaudited)

25.UVo

(4.5)Vo

ll.9Vo
0.rvo

(373)7o

25.l%o

(7.3)so

13.3Vo

(5.8)Vo

(25.5)Vo

O.3Vo

0.0Vo

(8.9)Vo (1 ,3)Vo (1.0)Vo 5.2Vo

0.0Vo0.0vo

-
The combined effects of the income tax exemption and reduction available to the Group are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30'

2022 2023 202520242024

Tax holiday effect .

Net loss per share effect-basic
and diluted

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards.
R&D business tax credits

Share-based compensation .

Depreciation of property, equipment

and software.
Deferred R&D expenses

Change in fair value of investment

Other current liabilities and others.

Lease liabilities

Total deferred tax assets

137,800
19,102
1 1 ,108

r6t,220
20,41o

8,495

6,250

0.07

4,772

0.05

1 5,1 82

0. 13

(unaudited)

918

0.01

6,610

0.02

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The tax effects of significant items comprising the Group's deferred taxes as of December 31,2022,2023 and

2024, and June 30, 2025, arc as follows:

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2023 20242022 2025

'74,857

15,647

t06,134
t7,706

560
282

800

5,927

993
1,275

571

551

10,532

1,577

356

424

12,528

1,599
202

1,260
258

93,147 133,406 181,026 204,595
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As of December 31, As of June 30,

2022 2023 2024 2025

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation of property, equipment

and software.
Prepaid expenses

Right-of-use assets

Share-based compensation .

Total deferred tax liabilities . . . . .

Valuation allowance

NOLs,thePRC.....
Tax credits, U.S. federal
Tax credits, U.S. state

Balance at the beginning of the
yearlperiod

Additions based on tax positions
related to the current yearlperiod

(630)
(601)
(l 80)

(75)

_9,486)
q1'1P

(r20):

(161)
(222)
(535)
(r4)

(e32)

(22e)
(328)

(23s)
(23s)

(ss7) (470)

(132,474) (1E0,469) (204,125)

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Deferred tax assets recognized for those tax credits are presented net of unrecognized tax benefits. Deferred
tax liabilities, net were included in other non-current liabilities as ofDecember 31,2022 and the balance was nil, nil
and nil as of December 31,2023 and 2024, and June 30,2025, respectively.

ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes rcqu'ires that the tax benefits of net operating losses ("NOLs"), temporary
differences, and credit carryforwards be recorded as an asset to the extent that management assesses that the asset
is more likely than not realizable. Realization of the future tax benefits is dependent on the Group's ability to generate
sufficient taxable income within the carryforward period. The Group considered all positive and negative evidence
on whether the Group would have future taxable income sufficient to realize the benefits of its deferred tax assers.

The Group determined the valuation allowance on an entity-by-entity basis. As of December 31,2022,2O23
and 2024, and June 30,2025, $91.8 million, $132.5 million, $130.5 million and $204.1 million of valuation
allowances were provided primarily related to R&D business tax credits and NOLs, respectively. Based on the
available objectively verifiable positive and negative evidence, the Group determined rhar it is more likely than not
that these net deferred tax assets will not be realized in the future-

NOLs and tax credit carryforwards as of June 30, 2025, are as follows

As of June 30, 2025

Amount Explratlon Years

876,998 2026-2035
12,240 2039-2044
13,947 No expiration date

Utilization of NoLs and tax credits in U.S. may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the
ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state
provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of NOLs and tax credits before utilization.

Unrecognized tax benefits

No liabilities related to uncertain tax positions are recorded in the consolidated financial statements. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2023 20242022 2025

3,429

1,158

4,587

668

5,096

544

5,725

272
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As of December 31, As of June 30,

2022 2023 202s2024

Additions based on tax positions

related to the prior year/period

Reductions for tax positions of prior
years

Balance at the end of the
year/period

220

(135)(1se) (220)

Included in the balances of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31,2022,2023 and 2O24, and June 30,

2025, are $4.6 million, $5.1 million, $5.7 million and $5.8 million, respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognized,

would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily federal and California deferred lax assets. No income tax

benefits would be realized due to the Group's valuation allowance position. The Group did not identify significant

unrecognized tax benefits for other areas for the years ended December 31,2022,2023 and2024, and the six months

ended June 30, 2024 and 2025, The Group did not recognize any expenses for interest and penalties related to

uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31,2022,2023 and2024, and the six months ended June 30,

2024 and2025, due to their immaterial impact on the respective consolidated financial statements. The Group does

not expect its unrecognized tax benefits balance to change materially over the nexl 1'2 months.

In accordance with the PRC Tax Administration Law on the Levying and Collection of Taxes, the PRC tax

authorities generally have up to five years to claw back underpaid tax plus penalties and interest for the PRC entities'

tax filings. In the case of tax evasion, which is not clearly defined in the law, there is no limitation on the tax yeafs

open for investigation.

The Group's U.S. subsidiary files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various states. The Group's U.S'

subsidiary's federal and state income tax returns are generally subject to tax examinations for the tax years ended

December 31,2020, through December 31,2024 for Federal and December 31,2018 through December 3l,2O24for
states. There are currently no pending income tax examinations.

The Group may also be subject to the examination of the tax filings in other jurisdictions, which are not

material to the consolidated financial statements. There were no ongoing examinations by tax authorities as of
December 31,2022,2023 and 2024, and lune 30,2025.

PRC Withholding income tax on dividends

The CIT Law also imposes a withholding income tax of l\Vo on dividends distributed by a foreign invested

entity ("FIE") ro its immediate holding company outside of China, if such immediate holding company is considered

as a non-resident enterprise without any establishment or place within China or if the received dividends have no

connection with the establishment or place of such immediate holding company within China, unless such immediate

holding company's jurisdiction of incorporation has a tax treaty with China that provides for a different withholding

arrangement. Such withholding income tax was exempted under the Previous CIT Law. The Cayman Islands, where

the Group incorporated, does not have such tax treaty with China. According to the arrangement between Mainland

China and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region on the Avoidance of Double Taxation and Prevention of Fiscal

Evasion in August 2006, dividends paid by a FIE in China to its immediate holding company in Hong Kong will be

subject to withholding tax at a rate that may be lowered to 5Vo (if the foreign investor owns directly atlea$25Eo of

the shares of the FIE). The State Administration of Taxation ("SAT) further promulgated Circular 601 on October

27, 2009, which provides that tax treaty benefits will be denied to "conduit" or shell companies without business

substance and that a beneficial ownership analysis will be used based on a "substance-over-form" principle to

determine whether or not to grant the tax treaty benefits.

To the extent rhat the subsidiaries and the VIEs and the VIEs'subsidiaries of the Group have undistributed

earnings, the Group will accrue appropriate expected tax associated with repatriation of such undistribuled earnings.

As of Decembe r 3l , 2022, 2023 and 2024, and June 30, 2025, the Group did not record any withholding tax on the

retained earnings of its subsidiaries and the VIEs in the PRC as they were still in accumulated deficit position.

5,777:stE19r64,587
::::::::::
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15. RELATED.PARTYBALANCESANDTRANSACTIONS

(a) Related parties

Name of related parties Relationship with the Group

(b) The Group had the following balances and transactions with major related parties:

As of December 31,

Amounts due from r€lated parti€s 2023 2024

Toyota Motor Corporation ("TMC")
Sinotrans Limited ("Sinotrans") . .

Dr. Tiancheng Lou . .

TMC (trade nature) .

Sinotrans (trade nature)

Subtotal, current

Dr, Tiancheng Lou, non-current
(non-trade natwe) (Note) . .

Total. .

Within 3 months.
Between 3 months and 6 months
Between 6 months and I year. .

Total. .

Shareholder of the Group
Non-controlling shareholder of Cyantron Logistics
The founder, shareholder and CTO of the Group

As of June 30,

2r2S2022

165

5,485 7,443

8,306 5,650 8,322 7,443

Note: The amount of $3.0 million representing the maximum amount outstanding during the years ended
December 31,2022 and 2023.

An aging analysis based on revenue dates for the trade nature amounts due from related parties is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
Six months ended

June 30,

2022 2024

Within 3 months.
Between 3 months and 6 months

Total. .

8,306

As of December 31, As of June 30,

Amounts du€ to related partis 2023 2025

Sinotrans (trade nature)

Total. .

Y€ar ended December 31,
Six months ended

June 30,

2022 2023 2024 2025

l,831
6,4't5

5

8,3 l7

7,443vn16s9

2,969

11,275

20252023

20242022

An aging analysis for the trade nature amounts due to related parties is as follows:

7,440
J

,A*

8,214
108

8,322

5,650

19s08,306

744

744:
900

900:

744

468
395

37

900
::::

644
100
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Year ended December 31' six months ended June 30'

Revenues 20232022 2024 2024 2025

(unaudited)

TMC..
Sinotrans

Total . .

Opersting and linance lease

lt
tt,137

!448

12,330

12,330

107

30,719

30,826

612
22,491

,:J03

4,205
21, I 88

25,393:

As of Decenber 31, As of June 30,

2022 2023 2024 2025

Operating Iease liabilities
Sinotrans

Finance lease liabilities
Sinotrans

Op€rating and flnance lease

t4t 108

2,597 2,43r

Year ended December 31'

73 38

1,688 1,345

Six months ended June 30,

2022 20252023 2024 2024

Cost:
Sinotrans

Selling, general and
administrative exp ense s :
Sinotrans

Interest expense:

Sinotrans to7

Year ended December 31,

(unaudited)

'7 tl

t9

6t

Six months ended Junc 30,

843

29

101

1,191

3t

1,433

37

111

454

l8

38

Inter€st income 2022 2024

Dr. Tiancheng Lou (Note) 83 2t

Note: During 2018, the Group offered a promissory note to the founder to cover the income taxes resulting

from the RSAs granted. The promissory note was repaid in March 2023.

202r 2024

(unaudited)

2025

As of June 30,

(c) The Company had the following balances and transactions with major related parties:

As of December 31,

Amounts due from related parties 2022 2023 2024 202s

Dr. Tiancheng Lou, non-current

Total. .

Year ended December 31'

Interest income 2022 2024

(Lnaudited)

Dr. Tiancheng Lou. 83 2l

16. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries of the Company are interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

2,969

2,969:

Six months ended June 30,

202520242023
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L7. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted net loss per share have been calculated in accordance with ASC 260 for the years ended
December 3l, 2022,2023 and 2024, and the six months ended June 30,2024 and 2O25. The following table sets forth
the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,

2022 2024 2n25

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to ordinary

shareholders

Denominator:
Weighted average number of

ordinary shares outstanding
used in computing net loss
per share, basic and diluted.

Net loss per share and per
ADS, basic and diluted . . .

(148,018) (124,812) (274,r2r) (104,697) (e6,086)

85,319,170 89,100,415 114,318,765 91,557,003 359,375,886

(r.73) (1.40) (2.40) (1.t4) (0.27)

Basic and diluted loss per share and per ADS is computed using the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year. Both Class A and Class B ordinary shares are included in the calculation of the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, basic and diluted.

The following ordinary share equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share to
eliminate any antidilutive effect:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,

2022 2024 202s

(unaudited)

2023 2024

(unaudited)

20242023

Preferred Shares
Share options.
RSUs.......
RSAs.......
Warrants.

197,448,223
973,599

3,365,907
6,494,735

449,568

184,928,573
526,711

23,820,031
1 06,395

202,699,487
677,460

3,872,687
217,O52

7,730,527
20,"140,341

198,629,O97

703,4'70
3,788,705
2,767,115

t7,974

205,906,361:Total 208,732,032 209,38L,7I0 207,466,686 ,s,470,s6s:
1.8. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Relevant PRC laws and regulations permit the PRC companies to pay dividends only out of their retained
earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations. Additionally, the
Company's PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs can only distribute dividends upon approval of the shareholders after they
have met the PRC requirements for appropriation to the general reserve fund and the statutory surplus fund
respectively. The general reserve fund and the statutory surplus fund require that annual appropriations of l0qo of net
after-tax income should be set aside prior to payment of any dividends. As a result of these and other restrictions
under the PRC laws and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs are resrricted in their ability to transfer a
portion of their net assets to the Company either in the form of dividends, loans or advances, which restricted portion
amounted to approximately $820.0 million as of June 30, 2025. Even though the Company currently does not require
any such dividends, loans or advances from the PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs for working capital and other funding
purposes, the Company may in the future require additional cash resources from its PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs
due to changes in business conditions, to fund future acquisitions and developments, or merely declare and pay
dividends to or distributions to the Company's shareholders. Furthermore, cash transfers from the Company's pRC
subsidiaries to their parent companies outside of China are subject to the PRC government control of currency
conversion. Shortages in availability of foreign currency may restrict the ability of the PRC subsidiaries and the
consolidated VIEs to remit sufficient foreign currency to pay dividends or other payments to the Company, or
otherwise satisfy its foreign currency denominated obligations.
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19. PARENT COMPANY ONLY CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company performed a test on the restricted net assets of its consolidated subsidiaries and the VIEs in
accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X Rule 4-08 (e) (3), "General Notes to Financial

Statements" and concluded that it was applicable for the Company to disclose the financial information for the

Company only.

The subsidiaries did not pay any dividend to the Company for the years presented. Certain information and

footnote disclosures generally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been

condensed and omitted. The Company did not have significant capital and other commitments or guarantees as of
Iune 30,2025.

The Company's accounting policies are the same as the Group's accounting policies with the exception of the

accounting for the investments in subsidiaries and the consolidated VIEs'

For the parent company only condensed financial information, the Company records its investments in
subsidiaries and the consolidated VIEs under the equity method of accounting as prescribed in ASC 323' Such

investments are presented in the condensed balance sheets as "Accumulated deficit in its subsidiaries, the VIEs and

the VIEs' subsidiaries" and shares in the subsidiaries and the consolidated VIEs' financial results are presented as

"Equity in loss ofits subsidiaries, the VIEs and the VIEs'subsidiaries" in the condensed statements ofoperation and

comprehensive loss. The parent company only condensed financial information should be read in conjunction with
the Group' consolidated financial statements.

For the condensed balance sheets of the Company, refer to the Company balance sheets set out on pages I-19

to 7-22.

PONY AI INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATION AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(All amounts in USD thousands, except share and per share data)

Y€ar ended Decenber 31,

2022 2023 2024

Operating expenses:

Research and development expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Investment income .

Changes in fair value of warrants liability . .

Equity in loss of its subsidiaries, the VIEs and

the VIEs' subsidiaries
Other (expenses) income, net

Loss before income tax .

Net loss

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments . .

Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale
financial assets, net of tax of nil . . . . . . .

Total other comprehensive (loss) income. . . .

Total comprehensive loss

(r48,018) (124,812)

(148,018)

(12s,267)
(198)

(274,121)

(124,8t2) (274,12r)

(2,86 1 ) (2,703)

(67,131)
(3,06s)

(70,196)

(70,196)

(8,1 37)

(200)
(10,20r)

(r.0,401)

(1.0,401)

15,799
5,617

(28s,176)
40

4,669
3,887

(8,137)

(8,137)

11,820
(3,030)

(85,742)
(636)

(r1,213)

8,51 I

(5,808)

(268,313):

7,350

4,489

(120,323)
:

(2,s63)

(13,776)

ry
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PONY AI INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3t,2022,2023 AND 2024
(All amounts in USD thousands, except share and per share data)

Year ended December 31,

2022 2n23 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating

activities

Cash llows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments
Purchases of long-term investments.
Prepayment for long-term investments .

Proceeds from the sales and maturities of
short-term investments

Proceeds from the sales and maturities of
long-term investments

Loan to a subsidiary

Net cash (used in) provided by investing
activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of Series D

convertible redeemable Preferred Shares . .

Proceeds from issuance of Class A ordinary
shares upon the completion of IPO and CPP,

net of issuance costs

Settlement of RSUs and share options . . .

Payment for the repurchase of ordinary shares
Payment for the repurchase of Series A

convertible redeemable Preferred Shares

Net cash provided by financing activities . .

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents

Net increase in cash and equivalents. . .

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
beginning of year

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
end of year

(67,6s3)

(108,492)
(36,072)

204,479

68,707
(147,000)

(1 8,378)

186,342

r86,342

(3s,692)

(20,649)

172,214

49,590
(96,093)

105,062

I 04,006

(3,026)
(ee4)

(4,800)

95,1 86

12,210

(102,609)
(65,568)
(2s,000)

101,443

1,697
(172,406)

(262,443)

408,404

408,404

(14)

1.00,311 L64,556 158,L57

23,849 124,t60 288,716

Note: The Group allocates external operating expenses among the consolidated entities and settles the
receivables from subsidiaries and amounts due to subsidiaries in short periods. Such arrangements are
presented as operating activities in the Condensed Statements of Cash Flows of Pony AI Inc.

446,873288,716:124,r60:
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20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

An aging analysis of the accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, and ltne 30, 2025

based on the invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows:

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2022 2023 2024 202s

Accounls receivable, gross

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Accounts receivable, net .

An aging analysis based on revenue dates is as follows:

As of December 31, As of June 30,

2022 2023 2025

Within 3 months.
Between 3 months and 6 months

Between 6 months and I year. .

More than I year

Total. .

25,899

27,761
(677)

27,084

29,283
(728)

28,555:

31,844
(264)

3U8o

25,989
(e0)

25,899:

2024

11,344
7,943
2,087

5,710

27,084:

19,206
847

2,5r5
5,987

28,555

26,982
1,225

2,680
693

3L,580:25,899:

The average loss rate based on aging is as follows:

As of December 31, 2022 As of Decenber 31, 2023 As of December 31, 20X As of Jure 30, 2025

Grosr Net

carrying carrylng Average

rnourt anount lo5s mte

Cross N€t

caryirg carrying
anotrnt anoult

Average
loss nte

Net Gross

crrrying Aversge carrying
anouot loss rate anoult

Gro$
carrying
anount

Net

AYeraSr
loss rote

carrying
amotrnt

Within 3 months .

Between 3 months

and 6 months

Between 6 months

and I year.

More than I year.

Total-. . . . .

0,3510 25,989 25,899

2,[7 2,087

6,182 5,?10

n,761 27,084

-:

19,468 t9,206

854 847

2,564 2,515

6,391 5,987

29,2E3 28,555::

2,735 2,680

701 693

31,844 31,580::25,989 25,899

0.67V0

t.05vo

2.01V0

t.987a

27,t64

1,238

26,982

1,225

l.35Vo

0.82V0

1.9110

6.4l%o

0.90Va

0.90V0

\.4210

1.641a

11,447

8,015

|,344

1 0L1

21. Prepayment for long-term investments

The Group

As of Decembet 31,2024, prepayment for long-term investments represents advance payments made for two

equity investments amounting to $27.8 million and $25.0 million, respectively. In May 2025, one of the equity

investment transactions has been completed and the related balance was recorded as long-term investments' As of

June 30, 2O25,the other investment amounting to $25.0 million was no[ completed.

The Company

Prepayment for long-term investments represents advance payments made for an equity investment amounting

to $25.0 million, which was not completed as of December 31,2024 and June 30,2025.
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22. DIRECTORS'REMUNERATION

Directors'remuneration for the Track Record Period, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended December 31, Slx months ended June 30,

2022 2024 2025

(unaudited)

20242023

Fees

Basic salaries, housing
fund, allowances and
benefitsinkind.....

Employer's contributions
to a retirement benefit
scheme

Share-based compensation

Total. .

Name

l3
954

1,565:

453

21

69

543:

20

212

1,242:

z0
275

1,185:

36

275

1,428

1,117

Fees

890

Basic salaries,
housing fund,

allowances and
ben€fits in klnd

t7

993

Employer's
contrlbutions to

a retirement
benefit scheme

Shar€-based
compensation Total

103

495

577

851

The directors who received emoluments from the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 are as follows

Executive directors:
Dr. Jun Peng (Note a)
Dr. Tiancheng Lou

(Note b).
Non-executive directors:

Mr. Yihong Gno (Note c)

Mr. Kui Zhou (Note d) .

Mr. Fei Zhang (Note e).
Ms. Li Ying (Note f) . .

Mr. Shigeyasu Uozumi
(Note g).

Mr. Kevin Ken Ling Yu
(Note h) .

Mr. Mitsuhisa Shida
(Note i)

Total.-....

558

559

l8

18 274

1,4r827536l,ll7
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The directors who received emoluments from the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Basic salaries, Employer's

"l,1",ilX?J,"lla 
"T'JJllifH,'" share-based

Nane F€es benefits in kind ben€fit scheme compensatlon Total

274

456

729

The directors who received emoluments from the Group for the year ended December 31, 2O24 are as follows:

Executive directors:
Dr. Jun Peng (Note a) . . .

Dr. Tiancheng Lou

lNote b).
Non-executive directors :

Mr. Yihong Guo (Note c)

Mr. Kui Zhou (Note d) . . .

Mr. Fei Zhang (Note e). . .

Ms. Li Ying (Note f) . . . .

Mr. Kevin Ken Ling Yu
(Note h).

Mr. Mitsuhisa Shida
(Note i)

Mr. Willian Apollo Chen
(Note j)

Mr. Takeo Hamada (Note k)

Total - .

Name

445

445

10

10

20 1,185275890

Fees

Basic salaries,
housing fund,

allowances and
b€nelits in kind

Employer's
conlributions to

a retirement
benefit scheme

Share-based
compensation Total

Executive directors:
Dr. Jun Peng (Note a) . . .

Dr. Tiancheng Lou
(Note b).

Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Jackson Peter Tai

(Note l)
Dr. Mark Qiu (Note tn). . .

Ms. Asmau Ahmed (Note n)

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yihong G\o (Note c)

Mr. Kui Zhou (Note d) . - .

Mr. Fei Zhang (Note e). . .

Mr. Kevin Ken Ling Yu
(Note h).

Mr. Willian Apollo Chen
(Note j)

Mr. Takeo Hamada (Note k)

Total . .

559

645

549

444

l0

10 191

7

7

7

6

6

5

l7

t3
t3
t2

L,24221220993
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The directors who received emoluments from the Group for the six months ended June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Basic salarles, Employer,s
housing fund, contributions to

Name Fees ;ll,""lT:tri,i1 o:,:i'il":nJ:" "il,ii!;il?lj" rora,

(unaudited)

Executive directors:
Dr. Jun Peng (Note a) . . .

Dr. Tiancheng Lou (Note b)
Non-executive directors:

Mr. Yihong Glo (Note c)

Mr. Kui Zhou (Note d) . . .

Mr. Fei Zhang (Note e). . .

Mr. Kevin Ken Ling Yu
(Note h).

Mr. Willian Apollo Chen
(Nore j)

Mr. Takeo Hamada (Note k)

Total . .

Nsme

259
28469

248
205

543692t:453

81

84

76

1,565::954495103

tl
10

The directors who received emoluments from the Group for the six months ended June 30,2025 are as follows:

F€es

Basic salaries,
houslng fund,

allowances and
benefits in kind

Employ€r's
contributions to

a retirement
benefit scheme

Share-based
compensation Total

Executive directors:
Dr. Jun Peng (Note a) . . .

Dr. Tiancheng Lou (Note b)
Independent non-executive

directors:
Mr. Jackson Peter Tai

(Note I)
Dr. Mark Qiu (Note m) . . .

Ms. Asmau Ahmed (Note n)
Non-executive directors:

Mr. Fei Zhang (Note e). . .

Mr. Takeo Hamada (Note k)

Total--.....

270
225

) 272

|,052lt 816

46
46

46

35

38

30

13

Notes:

a. Dr. Jun Peng founded Pony AI Inc. in 2016 and currently serves as chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer.

b. Dr. Tiancheng Lou co-founded Pony AI Inc. in 2016 and currently serves as a director and Chief
Technology Officer.

Mr. Yihong Guo served as a director since March 2017 and resigned from his position as a director in
October 2024.

d. Mr. Kui Zhou served as a director since March 2017 and resigned from his position as a director in
October 2024.

Mr. Fei Zhang served as a director since December 2017e.
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f. Ms. Li Ying served as a director since June 2018 and resigned from her position as a director in October

2023

Mr. Shigeyasu Uozumi served as a director since March 2020 and resigned from his position as a

director in Oclober 2022.

Mr. Kevin Ken Ling Yu served as a director since November 2020 and resigned from his position as a

director in June 2024.

Mr. Mitsuhisa Shida served as a director since October 2022 andresigned from his position as a director

in October 2023.

Mr. Wiilian Apollo Chen served as a director since October 2023 and resigned from his position as a

director in October 2024.

k. Mr. Takeo Hamada served as a director since October 2023.

l. Mr. Jackson Peter Tai served as an independent non-executive director since November 2024.

m. Dr. Mark Qiu served as an independent non-executive director since November 2024.

n. Ms. Asmau Ahmed served as an independent non-executive director since November 2024.

The executive directors'emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management

of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors' emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the Track Record Period.

During the Track Record Period, certain directors were granted share options and RSUs, in respect of their

services to the Group under the share incentive plan of the Company. Details of the share incentive plan are set out

in note 13 to the Historical Financial Information.

23. FIVE HIGHEST-PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the years ended December 3l,2022, 2O23, 2024 and the

six months ended June 30,2024 and 2025 included nil, nil, nil, nil and nil directors, respectively, details of whose

remuneration are set out innote22 above. Details of the remuneration for the years ended Decembet 31,2022,2023,
2024 and the six months ended June 30,2024 and 2025 of the five, five, five, five and five highest paid employees,

respectively, who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,

2022 2024 2024

(unaudited)

2023 2025

Basic salaries, housing
fund, allowances and
benefits in kind

Share-based compensation
(Note)

Employer's contributions
to a retirement benefit
scheme

Total .

3,707

8,1 38

2,526

2,603

2,068

13,568

1,242

1,013

4,246

5,324

29

9,599

34

2,289:

4t

15,677

-

41

5,170:
47

11,892:

Nole; During the year ended December 31, 2024, the share-based compensation included the compensation

expenses recognized for certain share-based awards with condition on the occurrence of an IPO or a sale

event. During the years ended Decemb er 31, 2022 and 2O23, the share-based compensation included the

compensation expenses recognized due to modification ofcertain share-based awards. Refer to note l3
for more detail of share-based compensation in Track Record Period.
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The number of highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

Year ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

(unqudited)

HK$2,500,001 ro HKS3,000,000 .

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 .

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 .

HK$5,000,001 Lo HK$5,500,000 .

HK$7,500,001 ro HKS8,000,000 .

HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 .

HK$9,000,001 ro HK$9,500,000 .

HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000

HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000

HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000

HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000

HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000

HK$18,000,001 to HK$18,500,000

HK$19,500,001 to HK$20,000,000

HK$20,000,001 to HK$20,500,000

HK$21,000,001 to HK$21,500,000

HK$24,000,001 to HK$24,500,000

HK$26,000,001 to HK$26,500,000

HK$27,000,001 to HK$27,500,000

HK$28,500,001 to HK$29,000,000

Total. . .

During the Track Record Period, certain non-director highest paid employees were granted share options and
RSUs, in respect of their services to the Group under the share incentive plan of the Company. Details of the share
incentive plan are set out in note 13 to the Historical Financial Information.

24. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Historical Financial Information are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which differ in certain
respects from IFRS Accounting Standards. The effects of material differences between the Historical Financial
Information of the Group prepared under U.S. GAAP and IFRS Accounting Standards are as follows:

For ahe y€ar ended December 31, 2022 IFRS Accounting Standards adjustments

1

I

1

I

I

5

2
a

1

5 55

Amounts as
reported

under
U.S. GAAP

Preferred
Shares

Issuance cosls
in relation to

ahe listing

Investments
measured at
falr value

Amounls as
reported

under IFRS
Accounling
Standards

Lease Share-based
accoutrting competrsaaion

Note i

(153,601 )

(49,178)

(202,779) (325)

9,614

(103,862)

Note ii Note iii Note iv Note v

Research and development

expenses .

Selling, general and

administrative expenses

Total operating expenses

Other income, net

Gains from fair value

change of investments

Fair value changes of

convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares .

(5124!)

w36!
9,2'12

9!2
444

249

47

296

w

(32s)

2,237 (l 51, l 15)

3,172 3,172
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For the year €nded December 31, 2022 IFRS Accounting Standards adiustmenls

Amounts as

reported
under

U.S. GAAP
Preferred

Shares

Investments
measured at
fair vslue

AmouDls ts
reported

under IFRS
Accounting
Standards

Issuance costs
Lease Share'based in relsaion ao

accounling compen$atlon thellsling

Note i

q48!24) q04487)

74

(r4!2s0) q04487)

(232)

Note ii Note iii Note iv Note v

Loss before income tax

Income tax benefits.

Net loss .

Net loss attributable to

non-controlling interests,

Net loss attributable to

Pony AI Inc,

Unrealized gain on

available-for-sale

investments, net of tax of

$86, for the year ended

December31,2022 . .

Total other comprehensive

loss

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss

attributable to Pony AI
Inc.

Research and development

expenses .

Selling, general and

administrative expenses

Total operating €xpenses

0ther incone, net

Gain from fair value change

of investments

Fair value changes of

convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares .

Loss before income tax

Income tax benefits

Net loss .

Net loss attributable to

non-controlling interests .

Net loss attributable to

Pony AI Inc.

(148,018) (104,187)

g_o

99

(46)

g!!41)
74

(248,867\

3,172

3,172

1,856

444

444

444

3,172

(13,067)

(161,317) (104,187) 99

t,624

1,316 W,{r!

(3,172)

(3,172) (16,239)

(26s,106)

(265,5E3):(46):(161,794) (104,187)

-:

444

444:

For the year ended December 31, 2023 IFRS Accounting Standards adjuslmenis

Amounts as

reported
under

U.S. GAAP
Pr€ferred

Shares

Issuance costs
in relatlon to

the listing

Itrvestments
measured at
fair value

Amoutrts as

reported
under IFRS
Accounaitrg
Statrdards

Lease Share-based
accounting compensation

Note i Note ii

(122,70'.1)

(37,417)

251

(160,t24) (202) 295

1,427 (316)

(229,111)

il,
(21\

(125,454) (229,313)

126

(125,128) (229,313)

(516)

(124,812) (229,313) (21\

Note iii Note v

44(202)

(64e)

412

(237)

w
w)

(237)

(123,105)

(37,163)

G60,268)

1,1i 1

8,089 8,089

8,089

arr!11)

9!,n9
126

94640)

8,089

222138

- I-83 -
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For the yesr etrded December 31, 2023 IFRS Accourtitrg Stsndards adjustmeras

Amoutrts as
report€d

under
U.S. GAAP

Share-based
compensrlioD

Isslance costs
in relation to

the listltrg

Invesam€rls
measured al
fair value

Amounls ss
reporaed

utrder IFRS
Accounaing
Siandards

Preferred
Shares accouDting

Lease

Unrealized gain on

available-for-sale

investments, net of tax of

$243, for the year ended

December31,2023 . . .

Total other comprehensive

income (loss)

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss

attributable to Pony AI
Inc....

Research and development

expenses .

Selling, general and

administrative expenses

Total operating expenses

0ther expenses, net

Gains from fair value

change of investments

Fair value changes of

convertible redeemable

Prefered Shares .

Income tax expenses .

Net loss

Net loss attributable to

non-controlling interests,

Net loss attributable to

Pony AI Inc.

Unrealized gain on

available-for-sale

investments, net of tax of

$(282), for the year

ended December 31,

2024 . .

Note i Note ii

8,089

(121,080) (229,313) q

Note iii Note iy

w

w)q

4,248

(t20,323) (229,3t3\:

(8,08e)

(8,089) (3,841)

(3s0,6s1)

q1ry)

Amounts as

reported
under

U,S, GAAP
Share.based

compensallon

Issuance cosls
in relaalon to

lhe lisling

InYestments
measured {t
fair value

Amounts as
reporaed

under IFRS
Accounting
Standards

For the year ended December 31, 2024 IFRS Accounting Saandards adjlstmetrts

LeasePreferred
Shares accounting

(296,926)

(ls,477)

(364,301)

Loss before income tax (275,00s) (364,301)

Note iv

25,641

6,995 (8,549)

32,636 (E,549) (272,479)

16,089

(rs,857)

16,089

(364,301)

32,636 (E,549) 16,089 (599,150)

(1)

Note i Note ii Note iii

(240,119)

(56,7 47)

284

76

360

(380)

(214,2s4)

(s8,22s)

(20)

(1)

(275,006)

(885)

(364,301) (20) 32,636 (8,s49) 16,089

7,578

(599,151)

6,693

(274,121) (364,301) (20) 32,6t6 (8,549) 8,511 (605,E44)

16,089

- r-84 -
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For the year etrded December 31, 2024 IFRS Accountlng Stendards adjustments

Amounts gs

r€ported
under

U.S, GAAP
Preferred

Shares
Lease

sccounting
Share-based

compensation

Issuanc€ cosas

in relation ao

the listing

Invstments
m€asured at
fair value

Amounts as

reporled
trnder IFRS
Accountitrg
Statrdards

Total other comprehensive

income(loss) ...
Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss

attributable to Pony AI
Inc,

Research and development

expenses .

Selling, general and

administrative expenses

Total operating expenses

Other income, net

Gains from fair value

change of investments

Fair value changes of

convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares .

Loss before income tax

Income tax expenses

Net loss .

Net loss attributable to non-

controlling interests

Net loss attributable to

Pony AI Inc. -

Unrealized gain on

available-for-sale

investments, net of tax of

$408, for the six months

ended June 30,2024 . . .

Total other comprehensive

loss.

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss

attributable to Pony AI
Inc.

Note i

13,137

(261,869) (364,301)

Note iv

32,636 (8,549)

(16,089) (2,952)

(602,103)

Note ii Note iii

(608,547):gf4e)32,636

q,

I(268,313) 
964!01)

For the six motrths ended June 30,2024 IFRS Accounting Standards adiusaments

Amounts as

reported
under U.S.

GAAP
Preferred

Shares
Lease

accounting
Share.based

comIensaaion

Issuance costs
ln relation to

ahe listing

Inveslments
me|sur€d at
fair value

Amounts as

reporaed
under IFRS
Accounting
Standards

(unoudited)

(58,725)

(15,s79)

(74,304')

2,978

43,229

(51,773) 43,229 r3

(51,775)

(458)

43,229

(s1,317) 43,229 r3

5,236

4,190

t3

Note i
(unaudited)

(47,585) 43,229

Note iv Note v

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
Note ii

(unaudited)

Note iii
(unaudited)

184

430

614

614

614

614

614

614:13:43,229q10s6)

106

40

146

(133)

(58,435)

(15,109)

(73,544)

5,236

2,845

5,236

43,229

5,236 (2,681)

5,216 (2,683)

5,236 (2,225)

(s,236)

(s,236) (1,046)

(3,729)

(2)(2)

(458)

l3

11200)
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For the slx monahs ended June 30,2025 IFRS Accounaing Standards sdjustments

Amounas as
reported under

U.S. GAAP accoutrling
Share-based

compensation

Issuatrce costs
ir relation ao

the llsting

Investments
measured aa
fair value

Amoutrts ss
reporled under

IFRS
Accounting
Saandards

Lease

Research and development
expenses .

Selling, general and administrative

expenses

Total operating expens€s .

0ther expenses, net

Investment income.

Gains from fair value change of
investments

Loss before income tax .

Income tax expenses.

Net loss .

Net loss attributable to non-

controlling interests .

Net loss attributable to Pony AI
Inc, .

Unrealized gain on available-for-

sale investments, net of tax of

$(25), for the six months ended

June 30, 2025

Total other comprehensive

income (loss)

Total conprehensive loss .

Total comprehensive loss

attributable to Pony AI Inc, .

(96,5 l 6)

(26,s74)

(123,090)

(2,015)

28,687

(90,639)

(90,640)

5,446

(96,086)

(13,771)

(13,6s7)

(104,297)

114

2'l

2s5

(355)

goo)

Note ii Note iii

(4,351)

(1,795)

Note iv

(100,639)

(33,10s)

(1)

(100) (6,t46) (4,763) (13,77t)

(4,763)

(6,146) (4,763) (133,744)

(14,986)

1,215

(2,370)

13,701

t,215

(6,146) (4,763) (13,771) (115,419)

(i)

(115,420)

5,446

(6,146) (4,763) (lt,77t) (120,866)

13,771

13,771

(6,146) (4,763\ (115,306)

(100)

tt4

(115,054)(4,763):(6,146)

qoo)

(100)
:

(104,045):

Amoutrts as
report€d

under
U.S. CAAP

Preferred
Shares

Issuance costs
in relatiotr to

the listing

Inveslmetrts
measured aa
fair value

Amoutrls aE

reported
under IFRS
Accounting
Standards

As of December 31, 2022 IFRS Accounting Standards adjuslmetris

Lease
accountlng

Share.based
compensatiotr

Note i Note ii Note iii Note iv Note v

(225,125)

225,125

Short-term investments

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or

loss, current

Operating lease right-of-use
assets

Long-term investments .

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss, non-curent .

Total assets

Convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares .

Totalliabilities ... 5!,602 3,041,948

261,643 36,518

225,125

'1,9868,138

80,653

(ls2)

(80,653)

80,653 80,653

- 771,362

- 3,041,848

(ts2)
::::

,rr,* -

- 3,041,848

- I-86 -
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As of December 31, 2022 IFRS Accounting Standards adjustments

Amounts as
reporaed

under
U.S. GAAP

Preferred
Shares

Investmetrts
measured at
fair value

Amo[rts ss
reporled

under IFRS
Accounting
Statrdards

lssusnce cosls
Lease Share-based in relalion to

accoutrting compensalion thelisting

Mezzanine€quity...

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit . .

Accumulated other

comprehensive loss

Total Pony AI Inc,
shareholders' deficit

Total shareholders'
deficit.....,

Short-term investments

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or

loss, current

Operating lease right-of-use
assets

Long{erm investments .

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or

loss, non-curent .

Total assets

Convertible redeemable

Preferred Shares .

Total liabilities

Mezzanine equity

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit . .

Accumulated other

comprehensive (loss)

income

Total Pony AI Inc,
shareholders' deficit

Total shareholders'
deficit......

Note i

1,257 ,497 (1,257,497)

63,200

(614,6s9) (1,784,351)

(551,487) (1,784,351)

(539,585) (1,784,351)

Note ii Note iii Note iv

(ts2)

(n,747)

n,147 6,065

(6,065)

51,453

(2,381,350)

(6,228)(163)

qs2)

(ts2)

(2,335,990)

(2,324,08E)

As of December 31, 2023 IFRS Accounaitrg Standards adiustments

Amounts as

report€d
under

U.S. GAAP
Preferred

Shares

Issuance costs
in relstion to

ahe llstiDg

lnveslm€nts
measured at
foir value

Amounts as

reported
utrder IFRS
Accounting
Stardards

Lease Share-based
accountlng compensation

Note i

4,646

(2,013,664)

Note iii

(1 1,s10)

1 1,5 t0

Nole ivNote ii

163,594 (86,e98) 76,596

86,998

6,246

86,998

(sl,7 t2)

5t,712

3,370,296

3,422,240

- 50,895

t4,154 (2,727,701)

(14,1s4) (9,828)

(2,686,441)

(2,675,296)

6,419

51,712

(173)

(173):J!4. _
- 3,370,296

51,112

_746!44

51,944 3,370,296

t,361,278 (1,361,278)

51,759

(739,s28) (173)

4,326

(677,250) (2,009,018) (173)

(666,105) (2,009,018) (173)

- r-87 -



APPENDIX I ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT

As of December 31, 2024 IFRS Accounting Standards sdjustments

Amounts as
reported

und€r
U,S. GAAP

Preferred
Shares

Lease Share.based
accountitrg compensallon

Issuanc€ cosls
in relatlon to

the listing

Investmenas
measured at
fair value

Amounls as
r€ported

under IFnS
Accountlng
Standards

Short-term investments

Financial assets at fair

value through profit or

loss, cument

Operating lease right-of-use

assets

Long{erm investments .

Financial assets at fair

value through profit or

loss, non-current .

Total assets

Totalliabilities ....
Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit . .

Accumulated other

comprehensive income

(loss) . .

Total Pony AI Inc.

shareholders' equity

Total shareholders'

€quity . .

Short-term investments

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss, current .

Prepaid expenses and other current

assets

Operating lease right-of-use assets.

Long-term investments

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss, non-

current

Total assets . .

Total liabilities

Additional paid-in capital . . .

Accumulateddeficit. . . . . . .

Accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss)

Total Pony AI Inc. shareholders'

equity. .

Total shareholders'equity . .

Issuance costs
Lease Share.based in relation to

accoutrtlng compensatlotr thelisting

209,035

Note i Note ii Note iii

8,549

(8,549) 30,243

(30,243)

(115,120) 93,91s

115,120 115,120

(93,914)
13,149

36,885

93,9t4

13,342

130,799

93,914

l4lfL
82,110

4,296,642

(3,32s,999)

(20,109)

950,929

(1e3)

_q9

(le3)

I1{4-
82,110

2,228,444

(1,287,851)

10,1 34

2,103,795

(2,r03,795)

(44,146)

44,146

951,122 qe3)

(le3)968,711 968,518

AE of June 30, 2025 IFRS Accoutraing Standards adjustmenis

Amounts as

reported under
U.S. GAAP

Investments
measured at
fair Yalue

Amounts as

reported under
IFRS

Accounaing
Standards

289,493

59,228

r 6,338

2t4,142

991,046

126,781

2,234,712

(r,384,009)

2,17 5

853,363

(4,763)

(4,763\

8,549

(13,312)

39,910

249,583

54,465

16,045

50,642

(14,297)

Note ii Note iii

(38,000)

38,000

Note iv Note v

(24e,583)

249,583

(163,500)

1 63,500

16,412

(16,472)

(2e3)

163,500

_lEs,99o

126,7El

2,205,261

(1,343,142)

!!9aul:::

(2e3)

w
w

848,307

864,265

- I-88 -
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Notes:

(i) Preferred Shares

Under U.S. GAAP, the Group classified the Preferred Shares as mezzanine equity in the consolidated

balance sheets because they were redeemable at the holders'option upon the occunence of certain deemed

liquidation events and certain events outside of the Group's control. The Preferred Shares are recorded initially
at fair value, net of issuance costs. The Group records accretion on the Preferred Shares to the redemption

value from the date that it becomes probable that the instrument will become redeemable to the earliest

redemption dates.

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, certain redemption triggering events of the Preferred Shares are

outside of the Group's control. In addition, the holders of the Preferred Shares are entitled to convert the

Preferred Shares into a variable number of the Company's ordinary shares upon occurrence of certain events.

Accordingly, the Preferred Shares are regarded as a hybrid instruments consisting of a host debt instrument and

a conversion option as a derivative. The Group designated the entire Preferred Shares as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss such that the Preferred Shares are initially recognized at fair value, while

subsequently changes in the fair value are recognized in profit or loss. The issuance costs are recorded in profit

or loss.

(iD Lease accounting

Under U.S. GAAB the amortization of the right-of-use assets and interest expense related to the lease

liabilities are recorded together as lease expenses to produce a straight-line recognition effect in profit or loss.

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, the amortization of the right-of-use assets is on a straight-line basis

while the interest expenses related to the lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost.

(iii) Share-based compensation

(1) Accounting for forfeitures of share-based awards

Under U.S. GAAP, companies make an entity-wide accounting policy election to account for award

forfeitures as they occur or by estimating expected forfeitures as compensation cost is recognized, and the

Group has chosen to account for forfeitures when they occur. Under IFRS Accounting Standards, a similar
policy election wiil not be allowed, and forfeitures must be estimated.

(2) Attribution - share-based awards with graded-vesting featutes

For the share-based awards granted to employees with service condition only, the share-based

compensation expenses were recognized over the vesting period using straight-line method under U.S. GAAP.

While under IFRS Accounting Standards, the graded vesting method must be applied'

(3) Share-based awards with performance targets rnet after the service period

Under U.S. GAAB a performance target that may be met after the requisite service period is complete,

such as the fulfilment of a qualified successful IPO, is a performance vesting condition. The fair value of the

award should not incorporate the probability of a performance condition vesting, but rather should be

recognized only if the performance condition is probable of being achieved. The cumulative share-based

compensation expenses for the share options that have satisfied the service condition were recorded in

November 2O24. IJnder IFRS Accounting Standards, a performance target that may be met after the requisite

service period is a non-vesting condition and is reflected in the measurement of the grant date fair value of
an award, and share-based compensation expenses for the share options were recognized during the requisite

service period based on the service conditions. Thus, share-based compensation expenses were recorded earlier

under IFRS Accounting Standards than under U.S. GAAP.

- r-89 -
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(4) Modification accounting on share-based awards

For the share-based awards which vesting is improbable but becomes probable, under U.S. GAAP,
compensation cost is recognized on the basis of the modified award's fair-value- based measure as of the
modification date. While under IFRS Accounting Standards, compensation cost is recognized on the basis of
the grant-date fair value of the original award plus the incremental value of the modified award on the
modification date.

(iv) Issuance costs in relation to the listing

Under U.S. GAAP, specific incremental issuance costs directly attributable to a proposed or actual
offering of securities may be deferred and charged against the gross proceeds of the offering, shown in equity
as a deduction from the proceeds.

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, such issuance costs apply different criteria for capitalization when
the listing involves both existing shares and a concurrent issuance of new shares of the Company in the capital
market, and were allocated proportionately between the existing and new shares. As a result, the Group
recorded issuance costs associated with the listing of existing shares in the profit or loss.

(v) Investments measured at fair value

Under U.S. GAAP, for investments in investee's shares and convertible bonds which are determined to
be debt securities, the Group accounts for them as available-for-sale investments when they are not classified
as either trading or held-to-maturity investments. Available-for-sale investments are reported at fair value, with
unrealized gains and losses, net oftaxes recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income. Realized
gains or losses on the sales of these securities are recognized on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Under IFRS Accounting Standards, the aforementioned investments are classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and measured at fair value. Fair value changes of these long-term investments
are recognized in profit or loss.

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In September 2025, Ihe Company granted 1,243,060 RSUs to its employees. These RSUs have a l0-year
contractual term and vest over a period of four years starting from the date specified in each agreement.

26. SUBSEQUENTFINANCIALSTATEMENTS

No audited financial statements of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or the Group have been prepared in
respect of any period subsequent to June 30, 2025.
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